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STATE OF WISCONSIN CIRCUIT COURT MANITOWOC COUNTY

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

State of Wisconsin

Respondent.

Case No. 05 CF 381V.

STEVEN A. AVERY, SR.,

Petitioner

SECOND AMENDED NOTICE OF MOTION AND THIRD MOTION FOR

POSTCONVICTION RELIEF

PURSUANT TO WIS. STAT. § 974.06 AND § 805.15

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the Petitioner, Steven A. Avery ("Mr. Avery"), by and

through his current postconviction attorneys, Kathleen T. Zellner and Associates, p.c. and Steven

G. Richards, respectfully moves this Court pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 974.O6 for an Order vacating

the judgment of his convictions and sentence and ordering a new trial. In the alternative, he asks

that this Court grant a new trial in the interests of justice pursuant to Wis. Stat. :§ 805.15 or its

inherent authority because the real controversy was not fully tried. In support of his second

amended motion, Mr. Avery states as follows:

Mr. Avery requests an evidentiary hearing and that he be produced for that hearing.

INTRODUCTION

Two new witnesses have emerged in Mr. Avery"s case with new and compelling

evidence about a murder mystery that has intrigued a worldwide audience. The rush to judgment

and tunnel vision that led to the arrest, prosecution and conviction of Mr. Avery is exposed by
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these new witnesses who provide new and undisputed evidence that directly links Bobby Dassey

("Bobby") to the murder of Teresa Halbach and the framing of Mr. Avery. Furthermore, this new

evidence allows for a reconsideration of the real motive of this crime, as being a sexual

homicide, which was the culmination of an obsession by Bobby with viewing thousands of

images of violent, deviant pornography. On October 31, 2005 the obsessive fantasies of Bobby

became a horrible reality when Teresa Halbach was brutally assaulted and murdered by two rifle

shots to her skull. Her body was mutilated as were many of the female subjects in the Dassey

computer images. Bobby was in possession of the Halbach vehicle, which contained the crucial

evidence of this terrible crime: Ms. Halbach's blood, key, electonic devices, and license plate

(which was concealed in another salvage car) and Mr. Avery's carefully deposited blood on the

seats and dash and DNA on the hood latch. By being in possession of the vehicle Bobby was

able to control the direction of the investigation. He planted the vehicle on the Avery property

after he deposited Mr. Avery's blood and DNA in it. He had Ms. Halbach's key and electronic

devices which ended up in Mr. Avery's bedroom and burn barrel. Bobby did all of this to

exculpate himself and to frame his uncle, Mr. Avery. Mr. Avery does not have to prove who

committed this terrible crime to receive relief. This is not his intent or purpose. However, he does

have a right to prove he did not receive a fair trial. The new evidence, which establishes that

Bobby meets all of the Denny criteria to be a third party suspect, and the evidence of two Brady

violations demonstrate that Mr. Avery was deprived of a constitutionally guaranteed right to

present a complete defense to the charges against him. See Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S.

319, 324 (2006); State v. Pulizzano, 155 Wis. 2d 633, 645, 456 N.W.2d 325 (1990), citing

Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 294-95 (1973).

2
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. This case began in early November 2005 with the disappearance of Teresa

Halbach, a twenty-five-year-old professional photographer. Ms. Halbach was reported missing

on November 3, 2005. Volunteer searchers found Ms. Halbach's Toyota RAV-4 on the forty-acre

site of Avery's Auto Salvage, a salvage yard business where Mr. Avery and other family

members lived and worked on November s, 2005. Ms. Halbach had photographed vehicles at

this site previously, per Mr. Avery's request. According to State witness Bobby, Ms. Halbach was

last seen walking towards Mr. Avery's trailer on October 31, 2005.

2. After finding Ms. Halbach's RAV-4, law enforcement searched the Avery property

and, over the course of the next four months, discovered and identified evidence including:

burned bone fragments in and around a burn pit, with DNA matching Ms. Halbach's; Mr.

Avery's and Ms. Halbach's blood in the RAV-4; the remnants of electronic devices and a camera,

the same models as Ms. Halbach's, in a burn barrel; Ms. Halbach's RAV-4 key in Mr. Avery's

bedroom, with Mr. Avery's DNA on it; Mr. Avery's DNA on the hood latch of the RAV-4

(deposited, the State later claimed by Mr. Avery's "sweaty hands"); and a bullet in Mr. Avery's

garage, containing Ms. Halbach's DNA.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

I. THIRD PARTY SUSPECTS

3. OnJulyl0,2006,beforeMr.Avery'strial,thetrialcourtenteredanorderentitled

"Order Regarding State's Motion Prohibiting Evidence of Third Party Liability" ("Denny

Motion"). The order specified that if the defendant intended "to suggest that a third party other

than Brendan Dassey is responsible for any of the crimes charged, the defendant must notify the

Court and the State" of such intention at least 30 days prior to the start of the trial. The trial court

further ordered that the defendant would be subject to the standards relating to the admissibility

3
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of any third party liability evidence pursuant to State v. Denny, 120 Wis. 2d 614, 357 N.W.2d 12

(Ct. App. 1984).

4. In light of the court's order, on Januaiy 10, 2007, Mr. Avery filed the

"Defendant's Statement on Third Party Responsibility." There, Mr. Avery stated that he did not

kill Ms. Halbach, and that there was "at least a reasonable possibility that one or more unknown

others, present at or near the Avery Salvage Yard on the afternoon of October 31, 2005, killed

her." Mr. Avery identified several persons as potential alternative perpetrators: Scott Tadych;

Andres Martinez; Robert Fabian; Charles and Earl Avery; and the Dassey brothers. Mr. Avery

argued that Denny did not apply to the circumstances in his case, and that as a result, he should

not be bound by the three-part test set forth in Denny. He further argued that even if Denny did

apply to his case, he should be permitted to introduce evidence at his trial of several alternative

perpetrators in this case.

s. On January 30, 2007, the trial court entered its "Decision and Order on

Admissibility of Third Party Liability Evidence." The court held that Denny's "legitimate

tendency" test applies to any evidence the defendant wished to present regarding potential third

parties who might have been responsible for Ms. Halbach's murder. The trial court found that

"[i]n the absence of motive, it certainly may be more difficult for the defendant to offer evidence

which is relevant and material connecting a third person to the crime. The court simply finds

nothing in the offer made by the defendant that goes beyond the level of speculation." (Doc.

490:1-15) (238:1-15). (App. 1-15)'.

' Current counsel has spoken twice with the current Manitowoc Clerk of Court, April Higgins,
about the history of the Avery case filings at Manitowoc. Ms. Higgins explained that the
Manitowoc record index is confusing but can be explained by the fact that when Maiiitowoc
enacted electronic filing in 2013-2014 many of the Avery court filings were scanned brit not in
order of the court proceedings. One small example of this confusion is the record index
numbering system order goes from 819 to 817 to 633 to 394, there are many more examples of
this non-sequential numbering making it challenging to locate documents. Additionally,

4
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II. VERDICT

6. On March 18, 2007, Mr. Avery was convicted, following a jury trial, of first

degree intentional homicide, contrary to Wis. Stat. 8, 940.01(l)(a) and felon in possession of a

firearm contrary to Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2)(a). (Doc. 541; 543). The jury found Mr. Avery not

guilty of mutilation of a corpse. (Doc. 542). (719:3). (App. 16).

III. POSTCONVICTION AND DIRECT APPEAL

7. On June 29, 2009, prior postconviction counsel filed a motion for postconviction

relief on Mr. Avery's behalf, pursuant to § 809.30(2)(h) seeking a new trial on grounds that: (l)

the trial court improperly excused a deliberating juror; and (2) the trial court improperly

excluded evidence of third party liability. (Doc. 634:l-28; 636:1-31). (429:1-28; 427:1-31).

(App. 17-75).

8. On January 25, 2010, the motion for postconviction relief was denied by the

Honorable Patrick L. Willis in a written order. Regarding the issue of Bobby's third party

liability, Judge Willis' found: "The only evidence offered by the defendant to show motive on the

part of Bobby Dassey consisted of evidence allegedly supporting a motive to frame Steven

Avery. No evidence is offered to suggest Bobby Dassey had a motive to murder Teresa Halbach."

Judge Willis concluded, "The evidence offered against Bobby Dassey probably did meet the

opportunity and direct connection to the crime requirements of the legitimate tendency test

because of his presence on the property at the time Teresa Halbach was there. However, without

handwritten document numbers were placed at the bottom of the documents before 2014. Mr.
Avery is providing this court with parallel citations to the Manitowoc Record Index, the
Appellate Record and separate appendices to eliminate any possible confusion for this Court
about Mr. Avery's citations.

s
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any showing of motive, third party evidence against Bobby Dassey is precluded under Denny."

(Doc. 660: 1, 95-96). (453:1, 95-96). (App. 76-78).

9. On December 14, 2011, the Wisconsin Supreme Court denied Mr. Avery's

petition for review, pursuant to § 808.10. (Doc. 698:l). (470:l). (App. 79).

10. On February 14, 2013, Mr. Avery filed his first and only pro se collateral

postconviction motion, pursuant to Wis. Stat. F3 974.O6. (Doc. 702:l-41). (496:1-41). (App.

80-120). The motion was denied by the Honorable Judge Angela Sutkiewicz on November 23,

2015.

11. OnOctoberll,2019,currentpostconvictioncounselappealedthecircuitcourt's

denial of Mr. Avery's second postconviction motion and all of its supplements. He filed motions

to stay and remand concerning two additional claims. At the Appellate Court's direction, Mr.

Avery raised his claims in his motions to the circuit court as supplemental postconviction

motions. The circuit court denied his motions to supplement. On April 12, 2021, Mr. Avery filed

a motion to stay and remand and the Appellate Court denied it.

IV. THE APPELLATE COURT'S JULY 28, 2021 DECISION

12. OnJuly28,2021,theAppellateCourtissuedapercuriamopinion,upholdingthe

circuit court's summary denial of Mr. Avery's claims raised in his § 974.O6 postcoiwiction

motion and two supplemental motions, holding: "Avery's § 974.O6 motions are insufficient on

their face to entitle him to a hearing." State v. Avery, 2022 WI App 7, 400 Wis. 2d 541, 970

N.W.2d 564 (herein "Opinion"). (Doc. 1056). (App. 121-68).

V. PETITION FOR REVIEW

13. On November 17, 2021, the Wisconsin Supreme Court denied Mr. Avery's

petition for review.

VI. THE APPELLATE COURT RESERVED MR. AVERY'S ABILITY TO

6
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FILE A SUCCESSIVE § 974.06 MOTION ON CERTAIN CLAIMS

14. On April 12, 2021, during the pendency of Mr. Avery's appeal, Mr. Avery filed a

motion with the Appellate Court to stay his appeal and remand for evaluation of a new claim.

The Appellate Court acknowledged this claim, stating the following:

On November 9, 2020, we notified the parties that this case had been submitted to the
court for decision on briefs. On April 12, 2021, Avery filed another motion with this
court to stay his appeal and remand for evaluation of a new claim. This claim concerns an
alleged Brady violation, the factual basis for which Mr. Avery obtained on April 11,
2021. Specifically, the claim is based on the affidavit of Thomas Sowinski, a Manitowoc
motor route driver who attests that, days after Ms. Halbach's death, while on his paper
route in the early morning hours, he spotted a shirtless Bobby Dassey and an unidentified
older man pushing Ms. Halbach's vehicle down Avery Road towards the junkyard. Mr.
Sowinski further attested that, after he delivered the paper, Bobby Dassey attempted to
block his exit, causing him to swerve and drive into a shallow ditch. Mr. Sowinski
claimed to have called the Manitowoc sheriff's office later that day to report what he had
seen but was told they "already know who did it." He also claims to have attempted to
contact Avery's trial attorneys after Season l of Making a Murderer, but never heard back
from them.2

(Doc. 1056:46). (Opinion, pg. 46, $76). (App. 166).

15. Further,initsJuly28,2021opinion,theAppellateCourtadvised:

When Avery filed this motion, we had already twice stayed his appeal, each time because
he asserted that the new claims related to those previously litigated and that it would be
most expeditious to resolve them as part of the instant appeal. By the time Aveiy filed
this new motion, however, we had already evaluated the legal and factual bases for
claims already raised. We therefore were, and are, in the position to conclude that this
newly raised Erady claim bears little or no relation to those claims already before us.
This is, instead, a distinct issue that the circuit court should resolve on a standalone basis
through a new WIS. STAT. 8, 974.O6 motion.

Avery's latest motion arrived while our decision on his appeal was forthcoming. It would
be an inefficient use of court resources to now, arid once again, delay this appeal's

2 Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel has investigated the matter further to learn that Mr.
Sowinski did not contact Mr. Avery's trial attorneys as he originally believed and stated in his
original affidavit, but rather that he emailed the Innocence Project in 2016 after watching Making
a Murderer, Season 1. His email was never passed along to any of Mr. Avery's attorneys. Mr.
Sowinski's first attempt to contact Mr. Avery's current postconviction attorneys was in
December of 2020, after Mr. Avery filed his second postconviction motion in 2017. Further, Mr.
Sowinski's memory was refreshed, with a recorded dispatch that was recently discovered, in that
he made the call to the Manitowoc Sheriff's Office on November 6, 2005.

7
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resolution. We appreciate that Avery likely wishes us to consider this new Brady claim in
the context of claims previously raised, but we must weigh that implicit consideration
against those discussed above. Simply put, Avery"s appeal cannot continue indefinitely.
Accordingly, this decision operates as an order denying Avery's April 12, 2021 motion to
stay and remand. If Avery wishes to raise this claim, he must file a new WIS. STAT. 8,
974.06 motion with the circuit court.

(Doc. 1056:46-47) (Opinion, pgs. 46-47, ??77-78). (App. 166-67).

16. The Appellate Court reserved Mr. Avery's ability to file a successive 83 974.06

motion on the claim in his most recent filing concerning the new witness who came forth on

April 11, 2021. (Motion #6) (Doc. 1056:2, 33, 41). (Opinion, 71 and notes 18, 26). (App. 122,

153, 161). Specifically, the Appellate Court instructed the following:

As discussed below, we are not addressing Avery's most recent filing to this court (see
our discussion of Motion #6), which seeks to directly connect Dassey to Halbach's
murder. If Avery wishes to raise that claim, he will need to bring a new WIS. STAT. §
974.O6 motion. That motion would need to survive both Escalona-Naranjo scrutiny and
be found to have merit-in which case, the evidence presented might supply the missing
"direct connection." In that event, the Velie CD evidence might become relevant to
showing Dassey's motive, and might bear on whether Dassey is, or should have been, a
viable Denny suspect. We express no opinion on the merit of any such § 974.O6 motion,
as all such issues would be for the circuit court to decide in the first instance.

(Doc. 1056:41). (Opinion, pg. 41, note 26, emphasis added). (App. 161).

17. Regarding certain claims Mr. Avery raised in his motion to reconsider the circuit

court's October 3, 2017 order denying his second postconviction motion and its two

supplements, the Appellate Court found that:

Neither we nor the circuit court have squarely considered whether these claims are
procedurally barred under Escalona-Naranjo or whether Avery pled sufficient materials
entitling him to a hearing. Such consideration would have to come on a separately filed
Wis. Stat. S, 974.O6 motion, and we express no opinion as to whether such claims would
be barred in the event such a motion is filed.

(Doc. 1056:33). (Opinion, pg. 33, note 18). (App. 153). Thus, the new material that Mr. Avery

raised in his motion to reconsider and its supplements was never ruled upon by the circuit court.

8
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EVIDENCE SUPPORTING MR. AVERY'S THIRD § 974.06
POSTCONVICTION MOTION

I. NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE: NEW WITNESS PROVIDES DIRECT

CONNECTION BETWEEN BOBBY AND THE HALBACH MURDER AND

PLANTING EVIDENCE TO FRAME MR. AVERY

18. Mr. Avery's new witness, Mr. Thomas Sowinski ("Mr. Sowinski"), contacted Mr.

Avery"s current postconviction counsel in December of 2020. Mr. Avery had already filed his

appeal on October 11, 2019. Mr. Sowinski stated that he had witnessed Bobby and one other

individual, a bearded man, pushing Ms. Halbach's RAV-4 onto the Avery Salvage Yard in the

early morning hours of November s, 2005.3 Mr. Sowinski claimed that he had reported this

information to the Manitowoc Sheriff's Office.

19. On April 11, 2021, Mr. Sowinski provided an affidavit to Mr. Avery's current

postconviction counsel, stating the following:

Mr. Sowinski was a motor-route driver for Gannett Newspapers, Inc. and delivered
papers to the Avery Salvage Yard in the early morning hours of November 5th of 2005.
Prior to delivering the newspapers to the Avery Salvage Yard, he turned onto the Avery
property and witnessed two individuals, a shirtless Bobby Dassey ("Bobby") and an
unidentified older male suspiciously pushing a dark blue RAV-4 down Aveiy Road
towards the junkyard. The RAV-4 did not have its lights on. Mr. Sowinski drove past the
two men and delivered newspapers to the Avery mailbox, and then he turned around and
drove back towards the exit. When he reached the RAV-4 still over there, Bobby Dassey
attempted to step in front of his car to block him from leaving the property. Mr. Sowinski
came within s feet of Bobby Dassey and his headlights were on Bobby during this entire
time, then Sowinski swerved into a shallow ditch to escape Bobby and exit the property.
Mr. Sowinski states in his affidavit that he called out "Paperboy, gotta go" because he
was afraid for his safety. He further stated that Bobby Dassey looked him in the eye and
did not appear happy to see Mr. Sowinski there. After Mr. Sowinski learned that Teresa
Halbach's car was found later in the day on November s, 2005, he realized the
significance of what he had observed and immediately contacted the Manitowoc Sheriff's
Office.

3 Throughout this motion, the information Sowinski provided will be referred to as "the Sowinski
evidence" which is contained in two affidavits cited throughout this motion as "Exhibit F"
(Doc. 1071) and "Exhibit l to Mr. Avery's Motion for Remand and Stay of Appeal."

9
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(See Exhibit l to Mr. Avery's Motion for Remand and Stay of Appeal, Mr. Sowinski's original

affidavit). (App. 169-72). The following day, April 12, 2021, Mr. Avery filed a motion for

remand and stay of appeal to the Appellate Court containing Mr. Sowinski's original affidavit.

20. The Sowinski evidence provided by Mr. Sowinski to Mr. Avery's current

postconviction counsel is newly discovered evidence, which provides the missing direct

comiection between Bobby and Ms. Halbach's murder making him a Denny suspect.

21 . The discovery of new evidence may constitute a sufficient reason for a second or

subsequent postconviction proceeding under Wis. Stat. 8) 974.06. See State v. Love, 2005 WI116,

$$21, 56, 284 Wis. 2d 111, 700 N.W.2d 62. To prevail, however, the movant must carry the

burden of proving that the evidence at issue is newly discovered. In most cases, to obtain relief

based on newly discovered evidence, a convicted person must establish by clear and convincing

evidence that (l) the evidence was discovered after conviction; (2) the defendant was not

negligent in seeking evidence; (3) the evidence is material to an issue in the case; and (4) the

evidence is not merely cumulative. State v. Edmunds, 2008 WI App 33, 13, 308 Wis. 2d 374,746

N.W.2d 590. If the person satisfies those four requirements, then the circuit court must determine

whether a reasonable probability exists that a different result would be reached in a new trial.

State v. VVilder, No. 2020AP2043, 2022 Wisc. App. LEXIS 300, at * l (Ct. App. Apr. s, 2022).

1) The Sowinski Evidence was DiscoveredAfler Mr. Avery's Conviction

22. Mr. Avery did not have the Sowinski evidence before Mr. Sowinski came forward

to Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel in April of 2021. Mr. Sowinski attempted to

contact the Innocence Project, and not Mr. Avery's trial defense counsel, via email in 2016

regarding the evidence he had, to no avail, and had not previously provided it to Mr. Avery's

counsel. Rather, the Sowinski evidence was reported to the Manitowoc Sheriff's Office by Mr.

Sowinski but the evidence was suppressed from Mr. Avery by the prosecution.

10
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2) Mr. Avery was Not Negligem in Seeking the Evidence

23. Neither Mr. Avery nor his counsel were on notice that Mr. Sowinski had any

knowledge about Bobby's actions on November s, 2005. See, e.g., VVilliams v. Taylor, 529 U.S.

420, 442 (2000) (finding that Williams had not failed to use diligence in pursuit of a juror

misconduct claim where "[t]he trial record contains no evidence which would have put a

reasonable attorney on notice that [Juror] Stinnett's non-response was a deliberate omission of

material information.").

3) The Evidence is Material to an Issue in Mr. Avery's Case

24. The Sowinski evidence is material to several issues in Mr. Avery's case. Most

importantly, it is material for establishing Mr. Avery's defense, that is, that a third party

committed the crime against Ms. Halbach. It is material for establishing the direct link to Bobby

as a third party Denny suspect and to opening the door to reconsidering the 'Velie CD' as

establishing a sexual motive for the murder. Additionally, the Sowinski evidence is material to

the evidence in the RAV-4 being planted by Bobby, including Mr. Avery's blood and DNA. The

R?AV-4 also contained the Halbach vehicle key and Ms. Halbach's electronic devices which were

discovered in Mr. Avery's bedroom and burn barrel, respectively. Further, the Sowinski evidence

is material to impeach Bobby's trial testimony that Ms. Halbach never left the Avery property,

and that she was last seen walking towards Mr. Avery's trailer.

25. Bobby was the State's primary witness against Mr. Avery. During his opening

statement, Prosecutor Kratz explicitly informed the jury of the significance of Bobby's putative

observations on the date of Ms. Halbach's disappearance:

You are going to hear that Bobby Dassey was the last person, the last
citizen that will have seen Teresa Halbach alive.

11
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(Doc. 589:104). (696:104). (App. 173). Bobby's testimony was the most determinative of Mr.

Avery's guilt4 because the State used it to establish that Ms. Halbach never left the Avery

property alive. (Doc. 589:103-04). (696:103-04). (App. 174-75).

26. At trial, Bobby testified that he observed Ms. Halbach's light-green or

teal-colored SUV pull up in his driveway at 2:30 p.m. on October 31, 2005. (Doc. 581:36)

(689:36). (App. 176). Bobby then observed Ms. Halbach exit her vehicle and start taking

pictures of his mom's maroon van right in front of his trailer. (Doc. 581:37) (689:37). (App.

177). Bobby testified that he then observed Ms. Halbach walking towards the door of Mr.

Avery's trailer. (Doc. 581:38) (689:38). (App. 178).

27. The following exchange occurred between Prosecutor Kratz and Bobby:

Q: After seeing this woman walking toward your Uncle Steven's, did
you ever see this woman again?

A: No.

(Doc. 581:39) (689:39). (App. 179).

Applicable Law re Denny

28. When a defendant seeks to present evidence that a third party committed the

crime for which the defendant is being tried, the defendant must show "a legitimate tendency"

that the third party committed the crime; in other words, that the third party had motive,

opportunity, and a direct connection to the crime. State v. Denny, 120 Wis. 2d 614, 357 N.W.2d

12 (Ct. App. 1984).

29. To support the introduction of third party perpetrator evidence there must be a

legitimate tendency that the third person could have committed the crime. The defendant need

not establish the guilt of the third party to the level that would be necessary to sustain a

4 Bobby was l of only 2 witnesses whose testimony the jury requested to review during
deliberations. (Doc. 538:1-2) (384:l-2). (App. 180-81).

12
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conviction. However, evidence that simply affords a possible ground of suspicion against another

person should not be admissible. State v. Wilson, 2015 WI 48, $1, 362 Wis. 2d 193, 199, 864

N.W.2d 52.

30. "The !egitimate tendency' test asks whether the proffered evidence is so remote

in time, place or circumstances that a direct connection cannot be made between the third person

and the crime." Denny, 120 Wis. 2d at 624 (citation omitted).

The Denny Requirements Are Now Satisfied

A) Bobby's Motive to Commit the Murder of Teresa Halbach

31. Under the motive prong, the court must question whether "the alleged third party

perpetrator [had] a plausible reason to commit the crime?" State v. Wilson, 2015 WI 48, T5 7, 362

Wis. 2d 193, 219, 864 N.W.2d 5222; see also State v. Grifjfin, 2019 WI App 49, !8, 388 Wis. 2d

581, 589, 933 N.W.2d 681.

32. A defendant's motive to commit a homicide is widely considered to be relevant.

State v. Wilson, 2015 WI 48, $62, 362 Wis. 2d 193, 220, 864 N.W.2d 52. The admissibility of

evidence of a third party's motive to commit the crime charged against the defendant is similar to

what it would be if that third party were on trial himself. Id. $63, 221.

33. Other acts evidence may be admitted when offered for other purposes, such as

proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake

or accident. Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2).

34. Law enforcement considered pornography as evidence of motive in Ms.

Halbach's murder. The clear working theory of the investigators was that the murder of Ms.

Halbach was motivated by a sexual assault. Pursuant to that theory, the Dassey computer was

13
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seized by law enforcement on April 21, 2006. (Doc. 281:31-325) (632:31-32; Search Warrant)

(App. 182-83).

35. Evidence of Bobby's motive to commit Ms. Halbach's murder is contained on the

hard drive of the Dassey computer-namely, the material contained on the aVelie CD.' The

Appellate Court acknowledged this evidence could be relevant for establishing the motive

element of the Denny test if the new evidence directly connecting Bobby was raised.

Specifically, the Appellate Court stated:

"[T]he evidence [Sowinski's evidence] presented might supply the missing 'direct
comiection.' In that event, the Velie CD evidence might become relevant to showing
Dassey's motive, and might bear on whether Dassey is, or should have been, a viable
Denrty suspect."

(Opinion, pg. 41, note 26). (App. 161).

36. Detective Velie's forensic examination of the Dassey computer searched for

specific words the user had searched. Detective Velie selected the specific words and conducted

a search for those words. There were 2,632 search results for the following words: "blood" (l);

"body" (2,083); "bondage" (3); "bullet" (10); "cement" (23); "DNA" (3); "fire" (51); "gas" (50);

"gun" (75); "handcuff' (2); "journal" (106); "MySpace" (61); "news" (54); "rav" (74); "stab"

(32); "throat" (2); and "tires" (2). These selected words establish a direct link between the

specific evidentiary items related to the Halbach murder and the searches performed on the

Dassey computer. The 'Velie CD' contains the State's "recovered" pornography images relevant

and material to the Halbach murder. The 'Velie CD' refined the 14,099 images on the 7 DVDs

that trial defense counsel received in discovery and recovered 1,625 violent pornographic

images, which had been deleted. The"recovered porn" depicted violent images of the torture and

mutilation of young females. (Doc. 964:23, 25) (741:23, 25). (emphasis added). (App. 184-85).

s The Search Warrant is an attachment to Mr. Avery's Motion because it is not otherwise found in
the circuit court record.

14

Case 2005CF000381 Document 1110 Filed 01-24-2023 Page 15 of 98



37. Brad Dassey ("Brad"), Barb's step-son and the half-brother of Bryan, Bobby,

Blaine, and Brendan, avers that he had a conversation with Barb, in which she indicated that she

had hired someone to remove evidence from the Dassey computer. (Id. $3). The authorities

interviewed Brad after he reported this information, but he was not called as a witness, by either

side, to testify at Mr. Avery's or Brendan's trials. (Id. 77 8-9). (Doc. 281:35-36) (632:35-36,

Affidavit of Brad Dassey). (App. 355-56). This is corroborated by the law enforcement report,

which states that on June 6, 2006, Special Agent Fassbender and Investigator Weigert

interviewed Brad who provided this information about the Dassey computer deletions. (Thomas

Fassbender DCI Report No. 05-1776/284 attached and incorporated herein as "Group Exhibit

A-1" (Doc. 1066).

38. The new forensic examination of the Dassey computer corroborates the affidavit

of Brad. Mr. Hunt, in his computer examination, detected eight periods in 2005, close to the date

of the murder, for which files are missing and "presumably deleted from the Dassey computer:"

August 23-26; August 28-September 11; September 14-15; September 24-October 22; October

23-24; October 26-November 2; November 4-13; and November 15-December 3. (Doc.

284:38-39) (633:38-39, Supplemental Affidavit of Gary Hunt). (App. 186-87).

39. In reviewing images contained on the Velie disc, Special Agent Thomas

Fassbender made the following observations: (1) "Photographs of both Teresa Halbach and

Steven Avery with an apparent date of April 18, 2006"; (2) "There were numerous images of

nudity, both male and female, to include pornography. The pornography included both

heterosexual, homosexual, and bestiality. There were images depicting bondage, as well as

possible torture and pain. There were also text images with the name, aEmily.' There were

images depicting potential young females, to include an infant defecating. There were images of

injuries to humans, to include a decapitated head, a badly injured and bloodied body, a bloody
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head injury, and a mutilated body"; and (3) "The disc received from Detective Velie, as well as

the hardcopy pages of instant message conversations were maintained in S/A Fassbender's

possession." (Thomas Fassbender DCI Report No. 05-1776/304 is attached and incorporated

herein as "Group Exhibit A-2" (Doc. 1066)).

40. There is sufficient evidence that it was only Bobby who had access to the Dassey

computer during the day on weekdays between approximately 7:00 a.m. to 3:30 p.m. (Doc.

965:69-70; 614:27-37, 39; 581:35, 599:56-57, 228:28-29; 284:47, 131, 970:12) (737:69-70;

636:27-37, 39; 689:35; 705:56-57; 630:28-29; 633:47; 400:131 ; 743:12). (App. 188-209). Barb's

work schedule was from 6:00 a.m. until 4:30 p.m. every day Monday through Thursday of every

week. (Doc. 228:160) (630:160). (App. 210). Brendan and Blaine would get picked up by the

school bus at Avery Road between 7:08 a.m. and 7:13 a.m. and dropped off at the same place

between 3:30 p.m. and 4:00 p.m. (Doc. 228:158) (630:158) (App. 211). Therefore, Barb, Blaine,

and Brendan-the three other individuals living at the Dassey residence are excluded from even

having access to the Dassey computer at the times most of the violent searches occurred.

41. Moreover, 128 searches for the most violent porn images primarily occurred on

weekdays when only Bobby was in the Dassey residence. (Doc. 614:27-37, 39; 581:35;

599:56-57; 228:28-29; 284:47; 965:164; 967:154; 970:12) (636:27-37, 39; 689:35; 705:56-57;

630:28-29; 633:47; 737:164; 739:154; 743:12). (App. 212-32). It is undisputed that Mr. Avery

never accessed the Dassey computer. He did not have the password for the Dassey computer, nor

did he possess a key to the Dassey residence, which was locked when no one was home. (Doc.

614:89-90). (636:89-90) (App. 233-34). The only time Mr. Avery ever entered the Dassey

residence was when one of the Dassey family members was home. Mr. Avery worked at the

Avery Salvage Yard, during the weekdays, from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. (Doc. 614:6, 91). (636:6,

91). (App. 235-36). Moreover, Mr. Avery would be eliminated from all but 15 of the 128
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(11 .7o/o) searches for the most violent porn images, at issue, simply by having been arrested on

November 9, 2005. (Doc. 228:85; 614:33-37). (630:85; 636:33-37). (App. 218-22). Brendan

would be eliminated from all but 26 of the 128 (20.3%) searches for the most violent porn

images, at issue, simply by having been arrested on March 1, 2006. (Doc. 614:33-37)

(636:33-37). (App. 218-22).

42. Bobby testified that on October 31, 2005 he was the only person home between

6:30 a.m. and when he claims he left to go hunting at 2:45 p.m. (Doc. 591:41) (697:41). (App.

238). Therefore, it is undisputed that Bobby was the only person home on October 31 when

searches were made on the Dassey computer at 7:00 a.m., 9:33 a.m., 10:09 a.m., 1:08 p.m., and

1:51 p.m. prior to Ms. Halbach's arrival at the Avery Salvage Yard. (Doc. 281:37-38)

(632:37-38, Affidavit of Gary Hunt) (App. 239-40). The timing of these internet searches on

October 31 directly contradicts Bobby's trial testimony that on that day he was asleep from 6:30

a.m. to 2:30 p.m. (Doc. 284:38-39; 581:35) (633:38-39; 689:35). (App. 241-43).

43. OnNovemberl7,2017,inaninterviewofBobbybyStateinvestigators,Bobby

claimed that the Dassey computer was located "on a desk in the living room at the time." When

Bobby was asked if the Dassey computer was ever located in his bedroom, he stated, "It was

not." (Doc. 965:64-65) (737:64-65). (App. 244-45). Bobby's statement is directly contradicted

by the crime scene footage taken by Sgt. Tyson on November 12, 2005, which shows the Dassey

computer was located in Bobby's bedroom. (Doc. 965:170; 991:1-2) (737: 170; 763:1-2). (App.

246-48). Bobby's statements are further contradicted by his brother, Blaine, who stated in his

affidavit to current postconviction counsel on June 25, 2018, that the Dassey computer was

located in Bobby's room and Bobby was the primary user of it. (Doc. 965:165-66) (737:165-66).

(App. 249-50).
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44. Wis. Stat. H 904.04(2)(a), provides that "[e]vidence of other crimes [and/or]

wrongs [and/or] acts . . . when offered . . . as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation,

plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident" is admissible.

45. The depicted acts in the violent pornography Bobby was viewing are sufficiently

similar to the violent murder of Ms. Halbach.

46. The evidence of Bobby's searches for violent pornographic images is not so

remote in time as to be inadmissible but rather, so close in time to Ms. Halbach's murder that the

searches are direct evidence of Bobby's motive to kill Ms. Halbach.

47. The 1,625 previously deleted but recovered images of violent pornography could

have established motive for trial defense counsel's Dermy motion. The court in Dressler v.

McCaughtry, 238 F.3d 908, 910, 913-14 (7th Cir. 2001), held that the "acts" admitted pursuant

to § 904.04(2)(a) were the defendant's possession of the pornographic videotapes and pictures.

Those images depicting intentional violence were admitted as evidence of the defendant's

motive, intent, and plan to murder the victim.

48. The defendant in Dressler argued that the videotapes and pictures were irrelevant

and constituted inadmissible propensity evidence. The Seventh Circuit disagreed, stating:

The fact that [the defendant] maintained a collection of videos and pictures depicting
intentional violence is probative of the State's claim that he had an obsession with that
subject. A person obsessed with violence is more likely to commit murder, and therefore
the videos and photographs are relevant.

Id. at 914.

49. The Dressler court held that, although evidence of the general character of a

defendant is inadmissible to prove he acted in conformity therewith, the above exception from !§

904.04(2) was deemed to apply. Id.

18
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50. Dressler is persuasive authority that the same result should occur here. Ms.

Halbach was killed in a violent manner. Maintaining the violent porn images is probative to

establish that Bobby had an obsession with violence and therefore was more likely to commit

murder. The violent porn images are relevant to Bobby's motive and would have resulted in trial

defense counsel being able to establish his motive for Ms. Halbach's murder to meet the Denny

standard.

51. As Mr. Avery's sexual homicide expert, Ann Burgess, PhD ("Dr. Burgess"),

opines in her affidavit, submitted previously to this Court, there is a well-established causal

connection between pornography consumption and violent behaviors. (Doc. 966:2-8) (738:2-8,

Affidavit of Ami Burgess, PhD). (App. 251-57).

52. In Mr. Avery's motion to reconsider this Court's prior decision, former FBI agent

and police procedure expert, Gregg McCrary ("Mr. McCrary"), submitted an affidavit wherein he

described his opinion that the searches for violent, underage, and child pornography, combined

with the images of and searches for dead bodies, "reflects a co-morbidity of sexual paraphilias."

It is the opinion of Mr. McCrary that "Bobby Dassey was becoming obsessively deviant in his

viewing of violent pornography" in the weeks before Ms. Halbach's murder. (Doc. 228:117-19)

(630:117-19, Affidavit of Gregg McCrary at % 3, 4.). (App. 258-60).

E) Eobby's Opportuniffl to Commit the Murder of Teresa Halbach

53. The second prong of the Denny test-the opportunity prong-asks: "[C]ould the

alleged third party perpetrator have committed the crime, directly or indirectly? In other words,

does the evidence create a practical possibility that the third party committed the crime?" Wilson,

362 Wis. 2d 193, ?58.
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54. As a legal concept, "opportunity" appears in the Wisconsin Statutes in the context

of "other acts" evidence. State v. Wilson, 2015 WI 48, $$ 66-67, 362 Wis. 2d 193, 221-22, 864

N.W.2d 52 (citing Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2)):

(2) OTHER CRIMES, WRONGS, OR ACTS. . . . [E]vidence of other crimes, wrongs, or
acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that the person
acted in conformity therewith. This subsection does not exclude the evidence when
offered for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan,
knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

(Emphasis added.)

55. The case law as well as Fg 904.04(2) permits the introduction of other acts

evidence to show a person's (whether a party or third person) "opportunity" to engage in certain

conduct. "Opportunity" is a broad term . . . ; proof of opportunity may be relevant to place the

person at the scene of the offense (time and proximity) or to prove whether one had the requisite

skills, capacity, or ability to carry out an act. . . . It is incumbent on the proponent, however, to

show the relevance of the "opportunity" evidence. 7 Wis. Prac., Wis. Evidence § 404.7 (3d ed.)

(footnotes omitted).

56. According to the trial court, Mr. Avery's trial defense counsel has already

established that Bobby had the opportunity to commit the murder of Ms. Halbach. (Doc. 660:1,

95-96) (453:1, 95-96). (App. 261-63). The Sowinski evidence greatly strengthens the

opportunity argument because Bobby is in possession of Mr. Halbach's vehicle, where her

murder likely occurred.

C) Bobby's Access to Item of Evidence to Frame Mr. Avery

57. Additionally, the defense theory was that Mr. Avery was framed by evidence

being planted in Ms. Halbach's car and Mr. Avery's trailer and burn barrel.

58. The Sowinski evidence that Bobby was in possession of Ms. Halbach's vehicle

provides the opportunity/access to the items that were used "in the frame-up." State v. Wilson,
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2015 WI 48, $68, 362 Wis. 2d 193, 222, 864 N.W.2d 52. The specific items that were planted

and used in the frame-up of Mr. Avery were Mr. Avery's blood in Ms. Halbach's vehicle, Ms.

Halbach's RAV-4 key in Mr. Avery"s bedroom, and Ms. Halbach's electronic devices in Mr.

Avery's burn barrel.

D) Eobby Had Access to Mr. Avery's Blood

59. Mr. Avery told law enforcement in a recorded interview that his finger, which had

been cut open prior to October 31, 2005, re-bled on November 3, 2005, and dripped blood in his

bathroom sink and on the bathroom floor. (Doc. 935:6; 937:l-2) (646:6; 648:l-2). (App.

264-66). In Mr. Avery's trial, Rollie Johnson, the owner of Mr. Avery's trailer, testified that he

observed that the cut on Mr. Avery's finger was present prior to October 31, 2005. (Doc.

606:176) (712:176). (App. 267). Mr. Avery consistently expressed his belief to his attorneys and

the media that his blood found in Ms. Halbach's vehicle was planted and that it came from his

bathroom sink. (Doc. 179:22) (604:22). (App. 271).

60. Mr. Avery's claim that he bled into his bathroom sink and on the floor was

corroborated by the fact that law enforcement found some of his blood around his bathroom sink

and on his bathroom floor. (Doc. 179:22-30) (604:22-30). (App. 271-79).

61. In the early evening of November 3, 2005, Sergeant Andrew Colborn ("Sgt.

Colborn") came to the Avery Salvage Yard and spoke to Mr. Avery. After meeting with Sgt.

Colborn, Mr. Avery went to his vehicle and drove to the Dassey residence. Barb, Blaine, and

Bobby were home at the time.

62. Mr.AveryprovidedanaffidavitonJune29,20l8.Hestatedthefollowinginhis

affidavit regarding the events of the evening of November 3, 2005:

I stopped at my sister, Barb Dassey-Janda's ("Barb"), property and broke open a cut on the
outside of the middle finger of my right hand as I was attempting to unhitch her trailer for
her. . . . I went to Barb's door to see if any of her sons wanted to go with me to Menards.
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Bobby and Blaine were home. I asked Bobby and Blaine if they wanted to go with me and
my brother, Chuck, to Menards. I told both of them that a law enforcement officer had just
left the property after asking me questions about Ms. Halbach's visit to photograph Barb's
van on October 31, 2005. I noticed that Bobby was immediately nervous after I mentioned
the visit by the officer. He said that he could not go with me to Menards and that he had
"things to do." There is no doubt in my mind that Bobby saw that my finger was bleeding.
My memory is that Blaine said that he wanted to go to Menards and he went with Chuck
and me. Prior to leaving for Menards, I returned to my trailer to put tape on my bleeding
finger. A large amount of blood dripped onto the rim and sink and the floor of the
bathroom. I did not wash away or wipe up because Chuck was waiting for me to go to
Menards in Manitowoc with him. While we were leaving Avery property, driving a flatbed
to Menards in Manitowoc, I saw taillights in front of my trailer. The taillights were further
apart and higher off the ground than sedan taillights. I told my brother, who was driving,
about the taillights. We turned around and drove to my trailer, but the vehicle was gone.
On November 4, I woke up at 6:00 a.m. and went into the bathroom to take a shower. I
saw that most of the blood on my sink, which I had not cleaned up the previous night, was
gone. It seemed to me that the blood had been cleaned up. After reviewing more case
documents and thinking about what happened on November 3, 2005, I do not believe that
law enforcement broke into my trailer and took blood from my sink and planted it in Ms.
Halbach's vehicle.

(Doc. 965:3-5) (737:3-5) (App. 280-82).

63. According to Mr. Avery, he left his door unlocked when he went to Menards;

however, the Dasseys also had a key to his residence. (Doc. 965:3-5) (737:3-5) (App. 280-82).

64. Mr. Avery told law enforcement and trial defense counsel that, as he was leaving

his property around 7:00 p.m. on November 3, 2005, and exiting onto Highway 147, he observed

tail lights of a vehicle close to his trailer. (Doc. 179:80) (604:80). (App. 283). Mr. Avery also

told trial defense counsel that he noticed that his blood had been removed from his sink when he

entered his bathroom, early in the morning on November 4, 2005. (Doc. 179:27; 935:6)

(604:27; 646:6). (App. 284-85).

E) Bobby's Direct Link to the Murder of Ms. Halbach

65. The third, and final, prong of the Denny test asks whether there is "evidence that

the alleged third party perpetrator actually committed the crime, directly or indirectly?" Rlson, ffl

59.
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66. The Sowinski evidence derporistrates that Bcbby cepld have corrxrriitted the

m?irder because he is in possession of Ms. Halbach's vehicle, where the murder likely occurred

as evidenced by Ms. Halbach's blood in the vehicle. The vehicle is a key piece of evidence in the

crime. See, e.g., State ex rel. Koster v. McElwain, 340 S.W. 3d 221, 249 (Mo. App. 2011)

(evidence of third party guilt admissible when an alternative suspect "became connected to a key

piece of evidence in the crime-the victim's purse where the canceled checks were found.").

67. The new evidence that Ms. Halbach's vehicle was returned to the Avery Salvage

Yard from a different location is corroborated by the fact that a witness saw a vehicle similar to

Halbach's leave the property on October 31. In Mr. Avery's trial, Mr. Leurquin, a propane driver,

testified that he saw a green, midsize SUV leaving the Avery Salvage Yard driving towards

Highway l 47 between 3 :30 and 4:00 pro on October 31. He informed law enforcement about this

when he was stopped at a roadblock a few days later and had heard about the news of Ms.

Halbach being missing. (Doc. 606:128-29, 137) (712:128-29, 137). (App. 286-88).

68. Further,itiscorroboratedbyBobby'sbrotherBlaine'saccount.OnJune25,2018,

Bobby's brother, Blaine, provided Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel with an affidavit

attesting, "On October 31, 2005 when the school bus driver brought Brendan and me home as we

traveled west on STH 147 I saw Bobby on STH 147 in a bluish or greenish vehicle heading

towards Mishicot. Bobby was not driving his black Blazer. Bobby was not home the rest of the

evening while I was home." (Doc. 965:164-67) (737:}64-67, Affidavit of Blaine Dassey, % 20).

(App. 289-92). Bobby's trial testimony contradicts Blaine's affidavit because Bobby testified

that he was home at s p.m. (Doc. 581:39, 41) (689:39, 41 ) (App. 293-94).

69. Bobby was with Michael Osmunson ("Osmunson") when Ms. Halbach's vehicle

was discovered on November s, 2005. (Doc. 591:24-25) (675:24-25). (App. 295-96). Current

postconviction counsel's investigator met with and interviewed Osmunson about whether he was
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the individual with Bobby pushing the RAV-4 onto the Avery Salvage Yard. The interview was

conducted because Osmunson fit the height, weight, and beard description provided by Mr.

Sowinski of the individual helping Bobby push the car. When Osmunson was asked if he was the

individual who helped Bobby push the vehicle on the Avery Property on November s, 2005,

Osmunson responded that he "could not remember" if he was that individual. (Affidavit of Steve

Kirby attached and incorporated herein as "Exhibit B." (Doc. 1067))

70. Further evidence of Bobby's dishonesty, Bobby never reported to law

enforcement the alleged statement Mr. Avery said to Bobby and Osmunson about "whether they

wanted to help him get rid of a body." (Doc. 591:30; 228:75-83) (697:30; see also 630:75-83;

Combined reports re-interviews of Bobby Dassey) (App. 297-306). This was a major issue at

trial. Trial defense counsel moved for a mistrial pointing out that they had never been apprised of

Bobby's new claim. During Bobby's direct-examination, Prosecutor Kratz asked Bobby: "Now,

Bobby, on the third of November, that would be a Thursday, I believe, do you recall having a

conversation with your Uncle Steven regarding a body?" and Bobby responded, "Yes." (Doc.

581:47) (689:47) (App. 307). On cross-examination, Bobby testified that Mr. Avery stated this

remark about getting rid of a body, in jest, on November 3, 2005 when he and Osmunson were in

his garage. (Doc. 591:27-28) (697:27-28) (App. 308-09). However, Osmunson told law

enforcement that Mr. Avery made such a statement to them on Thursday, November 10, 2005

(the only time Osmunson was at the Dassey residence between October 31st and November

11th) when he and Bobby were inside the Dassey garage and Mr. Avery came over. (Doc.

228:84) (630:84). (App. 310). This claim is unequivocally false, since Mr. Avery was arrested on

November 9, 2005. (Doc. 228:89) (630:89, Arrest Warrant). (App. 311).
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71. Remarkably,Osmunsonstatedtolawenforcementthathefirstlearnedaboutthe

missing girl on Tuesday, November 1, 2005, when Ms. Halbach had not yet been reported

missing. (Doc. 228:84) (630:84) (App. 312).

72. Further, the record reveals that Osmunson and Bobby were either suspiciously

calling each other repeatedly or with each other at relevant times after Ms. Halbach's murder.

Bobby's phone records reflect that on October 31, 2005, there were 7 phone calls between Bobby

and Osmunson occurring between the following times in the morning and evening: 6:12 a.m.;

6:36 a.m.; 3:56 p.m.; 3:57 p.m.; 4:53 p.m.; 5:10 p.m.; and 6:01 p.m. Bobby's phone records

reveal that Bobby called Osmunson a total of 66 times from October 24, 2005 to November 9,

2005. (Doc. 965:73-75) (737:73-75). (App. 313-15).

73. The Sowinki evidence is newly discovered and directly links Bobby to Ms.

Halbach's murder because as previously stated Ms. Halbach's RAV-4 was a key piece of

evidence in her murder.

4) The Evidence is Not Cumulative

74. The Sowinski evidence provides, for the first time, the "missing" direct

connection to Bobby as a third party suspect for Ms. Halbach's murder and is therefore not

cumulative.

Reasonable Doubt as to Mr. Avery's Guilt

75. If the defendant satisfies all four criteria of newly discovered evidence, the

reviewing court then examines whether it is reasonably probable that, had the jury heard the

newly discovered evidence, it would have had a reasonable doubt as to the defendant's guilt.

State v. Plude, 2008 WI 58, 732, 310 Wis. 2d 28, 48, 750 N.W.2d 42. This presents a question of

law. Id., ?33. A reasonable probability of a different outcome exists if there is a reasonable
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probability that a jury, looking at both the old evidence and the new evidence, would have a

reasonable doubt as to the defendant's guilt. Id.

76. Overwhelming evidence against the defendant may not serve as the basis for

excluding evidence of a third party's opportunity (or direct connection to the crime): "by

evaluating the strength of only one party's evidence, no logical conclusion can be reached

regarding the strength of contrary evidence offered by the other side to rebut or cast doubt."

Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 331 (2006).

77. If Bobby is established as a viable third party Denny suspect, the forensic

evidence in this case is completely undermined. The newly discovered evidence that Bobby was

in possession of Ms. Halbach's vehicle means that he had opportunity and access to plant

evidence in the vehicle and from the vehicle. Because Bobby has been directly linked to the

murder of Ms. Halbach there is a reasonable inference that he planted the bones in Mr. Avery's

burn pit.

78. This new evidence creates a reasonable probability that, had the jury heard the

new evidence, it would have had a reasonable doubt as to the defendant's guilt. Therefore, Mr.

Avery should be granted a new trial. See State v. %llbrecht, 2012 WI App 90, $37, 344 Wis. 2d

69, 100, 820 N.W.2d 443.

II. flu[YV{OLAT?ON RE THE SOWINSKI EVIDENCE

79. The Sowinski evidence is not only newly discovered evidence but it also meets

the criteria for a Brady violation.

80. After Mr. Sowinski contacted Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel and

provided the newly discovered evidence, Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel, through its

investigator, submitted its second Public Records Request pursuant to the Freedom of

Information Act for audio recordings of incoming and outgoing phone calls and/or radio
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dispatches between November 3, 2005 and November 9, 2005 that relate to the Halbach case.

(See Affidavit of James R. Kirby attached and incorporated herein as "Exhibit C" (Doc. 1068)).

The FOIA-produced audio recordings did not contain the Sowinski call on November 6 at 10:28

p.m. nor did they contain any dates or times of the calls produced.

81. In May of 2022, Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel received the

previously suppressed Sowinski call to the Mantiwoc Sheriff's Office which contained a partial

recording of the suppressed call to the Manitowoc Sheriff's Office on November 6, 2005. For the

first time, current postconviction counsel received the exact dates and times of the Manitowoc

County Sheriff's Office incoming calls. Attached and incorporated herein as "Exhibit D" (Doc.

1069) is a track timestamp record from the disclosure provided in May of 2022.

82. As part of its further investigation, Mr. Avery's investigator interviewed Mr.

Sowinski's ex-girlfriend, whom he was dating at the time of the November s, 2005 incident. Mr.

Sowinski's ex-girlfriend, Devon Novak, corroborated Mr. Sowinski's account of what he had

witnessed and what he had relayed to law enforcement. Further, Ms. Novak recognized and

identified Mr. Sowinski's voice on the recording, played to her by the investigator, of a phone

call made to the Manitowoc Sheriff's Office on November 6, 2005 at 10:28 p.m. (Affidavit of

Ms. Devon Novak is attached and incorporated herein as "Exhibit E" (Doc. 1070)).

83. Mr. Avery's investigator also interviewed Mr. Sowinski again and played the

same audio recording of the phone call that was made to the Manitowoc Sheriff's Office on

November 6, 2005 at 10:28 p.m.. Mr. Sowinski identified his voice in the audio recording of the

phone call from November 6, 2005. (Supplemental Affidavit of Mr. Thomas Sowinski's is

attached and incorporated herein as "Exhibit F" (Doc. 1071)).6

6 After realizing that he did not contact Mr. Avery's trial defense counsel, but rather contacted the
Innocence Project in 2016, Mr. Sowinski provided current defense counsel with his new affidavit
which also corrects his prior affidavit submitted in Mr. Avery's motion to stay and remand to the
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84. The recording of Mr. Sowinski's call was never disclosed by the State to Mr.

Avery's trial defense counsel prior to or during the trial. Pre-trial, trial defense counsel made two

specific requests, pursuant to Wis. Stats. 8, 971.23(1)(h), for all exculpatory evidence and/or

information within the possession, knowledge, or control of the State which would tend to negate

the guilt of the defendant, or which would tend to affect the weight or credibility of the evidence

used against the defendant, including any inconsistent statements. (Doc. 255:3-9) (26:3-9).

(App. 357-363). A second request was made by trial defense counsel for Brady material

immediately before trial on January 18, 2007. (Doc. 467:1-6) (225:l-6). (App. 364-369).

(Affidavits of Mr. Avery's trial defense counsel, Mr. Dean Strang and Mr. Jerome Buting are

attached and incorporated herein as "Group Exhibit G," (Doc. 1072) including an attached

exhibit of trial defense counsel's July 24, 2006 letter to Prosecutor Kratz requesting all audio

tapes).

Applicable Law re Erady

85. In Brady, the Supreme Court held that the prosecution violates an accused's

constitutional right to due process of law by failing to disclose evidence favorable to the defense.

Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 87 (1963). This rule encompasses evidence known to police

investigators, but not to the prosecutor. Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 438 (1995). To comply

with Brady, the prosecutor has a duty to learn of favorable evidence known to other government

actors, including the police. Kyles, 514 U.S. at 437. "Brady suppression occurs when the

government fails to turn over even evidence that is known only to police investigators and not to

the prosecutor." Wearry v. Cain, 577 U.S. 385, 395, n. 8 (2016).

Appellate Court, in which Mr. Sowinski stated that he contacted Mr. Avery's trial defense
attorneys.
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86. There can be a due process violation "irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of

the prosecution." Id. (quoting Brady, 373 U.S. at 87). "The prosecution's duty to disclose

evidence favorable to the accused includes the duty to disclose impeachment evidence as well as

exculpatory evidence." Id. (citing Strickler v. Greerte, 527 U.S. 263, 280 (1999)).

87. To establish a Brady violation, a defendant must demonstrate that (l) the

prosecution suppressed evidence, (2) the evidence was favorable to the defense, and (3) the

evidence was material to an issue at trial. State v. Harris, 2004 WI 64, ffl 13, 272 Wis. 2d 80, 680

N.W.2d 737 (citing Giglio v. United States, 405 u.s. 150, 154 (1972)).

88. The State never disclosed the Sowinski evidence or the Sowinski call to Mr.

Avery's current or past counsel. (See Exhibits C, Group G.) (Doc. 1068, 1072)

89. The defense never received a law enforcement report of the Sowinski evidence

provided to the Manitowoc Sheriff's Office in November of 2005. (See Exhibits C, F, Group

G). (Doc. 1068, 1071, 1072). The Sowinski evidence is corroborated by the partial recording of

his attempt to report the evidence to the Manitowoc Sheriff's Office prior to his call being

transferred.

90. There is no recording or law enforcement report of the remainder of Mr.

Sowinski's call that Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel, through reasonable diligence,

has been able to locate through its Public Records Requests.

91. In Banks v. Dretke, 540 U.S. 668, 696 (2004), the United States Supreme Court

instructed, "A rule thus declaring 'prosecutor may hide, defendant must seek,' is not tenable in a

system constitutionally bound to accord defendants due process."

92. Further,theWisconsinSupremeCourtinSfafev.Fayers/ci,20l9W?ll,385Wis.

2d 344, 922 N.W.2d 468 (2019), has specifically rejected the imposition of a reasonable

diligence standard on trial defense counsel. The Wisconsin Supreme Court specifically stated:
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This court has never analyzed a Brady claim through the lens of "reasonable
diligence" and we decline to adopt that requirement now, due to its lack of
grounding in Brady or other United States Supreme Court precedent.

Id., at 25.

93. The Wayerski court specifically overruled prior Wisconsin cases which have

imposed a requirement of exclusive possession and control of the material evidence by the State.

The court specifically stated:

There is no express support in the United States Supreme Court's Brady
jurisprudence for the limitation that only favorable, material evidence in the
"exclusive possession and control" of the State must be turned over to satisfy the
due process obligations enunciated in Brady. This limitation further thwarts the
purpose of the State's obligation under Brady: to prevent the State from
withholding favorable, material evidence that "helps shape a trial that bears
heavily on the defendant" and "casts the prosecutor in the role of an architect of a
proceeding that does not comport with the standards of justice." Brady, 373 U.S.
at 87-88. We hereby overrule the holding set forth in Nelson, 59 Wis. 2d 474, and
its progeny that favorable, material evidence is only suppressed under Brady
where the withheld evidence is in the State's "exclusive possession and control ."

Id., at 23.

94. There is no duty for the defense to seek out information that has not been

disclosed. However, Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel has made diligent efforts to

obtain any and all information regarding the Sowinski evidence, including re-requesting all

incoming calls to the Manitowoc Sheriff's Office from the relevant time period.

95. The following timeline illustrates the diligence demonstrated by Mr. Avery's

current postconviction counsel in investigating and corroborating the evidence that Mr. Sowinski

provided to the Manitowoc Sheriff's Office on November 6, 2005 :

*

*

December 26, 2020 at 10:42 p.m.
o Mr. Sowinski emailed stevenaverylawyers@gmail.com a summary of what he had

observed on November s, 2005. The subject line of his email was: "We need to
talk!"

Investigation of Thomas Sowinski's Credibility
o Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel conducted an investigation of Mr.

Sowinski which included gathering information about the following: his date of
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*

*

*

*

*

*

birth, relatives, employment history, telephone numbers, email addresses, possible
criminal record, possible civil record, and car and home ownership.
Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel confirmed that Mr. Sowinski had
worked for the Manitowoc Herald Times during the relevant time period.
Financial documents dating 2005-2006 as well as newspaper articles from
2005-2006 listed Mr. Sowinski as a paper carrier of the Manitowoc Herald Times.
Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel contacted Mr. Avery's trial defense
counsel, Mr. Buting, who confirmed that Mr. Avery's trial counsel had not
received any emails from Mr. Sowinski.
Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel reviewed all discovery and FOIA
requests made by prior counsel and current postconviction counsel to the
Manitowoc Sheriff's Office. Any information relating to the Sowinski evidence
was encompassed within those requests and should have been produced but was
not.

April 7, 2021
o Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel sent and delivered a letter to Mr.

Sowinski through a local investigator in Denver, Colorado (where Mr. Avery's
current postconviction counsel determined that Mr. Sowinski resided), requesting
that Mr. Sowinski contact Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel's office
immediately.

April 8, 2021
o Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel and her clerks had telephone contact

with Mr. Sowinski and arranged a time to speak to him further.
April 9, 2021

o Mr. Avery's current postconviction
interview of Mr. Sowinski.

Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel prepared an affidavit for Mr. Sowinski
based on his statements in that interview.

Mr. Sowinski indicated that he was going to be visiting family in Manitowoc on
April 10, 2021.

April 10, 2021
o Postconviction counsel's Investigator Steven Kirby met Mr. Sowinski, in person,

in Manitowoc for an interview and reviewed his affidavit with him. The affidavit

described the evidence Mr. Sowinski reported to the Manitowoc Sheriff's Office
about what he observed on the Avery property while delivering newspapers on
November s, 2005 as well as the actions he took afterwards. (His affidavit
included a map indicating where he observed the two males pushing the RAV-4).
After reviewing his affidavit and making any necessary changes, Mr. Sowinski
executed the affidavit before a Wisconsin notary.

April 12, 2021
o Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel filed Defendant-Appellant's Motion to

Stay Appeal and Remand the Cause to supplement his postconviction motion with
a new witness affidavit establishing a Brady violation and a new third party
Denny suspect.

August 28, 2021
o Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel listened to all audio recordings in its

possession from discovery as well as its own investigation and determined there

o

o

o

o

o

o

counsel and clerks conducted a phone
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was no recording matching the description Mr. Sowinski provided to the
Manitowoc Sheriff's Office.

* March 15, 2022
Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel, through its investigators, submitted
the following three new public records requests to the Manitowoc County
Sheriff's Office:

The first request sought copies of any non 911 recordings in your
possession of incoming telephone calls to the Manitowoc County Sherif's
Joint Dispatch Center between the dates of November 3, 2005 at 12.'O1
AM through November 9, 2005 at ll:5 9 PM
The second request sought copies of incoming and outgoing telephorte call
logs of the recorded Manitowoc County Sherif's Joint Dispatch calls
between the dates of November 3, 2005 12:01 AM through November 9,
2005 11.'59 PM that relate to the Teresa Halbach investigation.
Information should include date, time and telephone numbers involved in
the calls.

The third request sought copies of audio recordings of incoming and
outgoing calls and/or radio dispatches between the dates of November 3,
2005 12.'01 PM through November 9, 2005 11.'59 PM that relate to the
'eresa Halbach investigation.

o

s

s

€

*

*

*

May 3, 2022
o In response to Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel's March 15, 2022

Public Records Request through its investigator, for the first time, recordings were
provided to Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel, who thoroughly reviewed
and listened to all the audio recordings and located one of interest, which took
place on November 6, 2005 at 10:28 p.m. For the first time. the time and date of
the calls were revealed on the track files. (See Exhibit D) (Doc. 1069).

August 6, 2022
o Current postconviction counsel's Investigator Steven Kirby met with Mr.

Sowinski's former girlfriend, Ms. Novak on August 6, 2022 and played for her the
audio recording from November 6, 2005 at 10:28 p.m. Ms. Novak identified the
voice on the call as Mr. Sowinski's. Ms. Novak provided Mr. Avery's current
postconviction counsel with an affidavit regarding her voice identification and her
recollection of being with Mr. Sowinski when he placed the November 6 call to
the Manitowoc Sheriff's Office. (See Exhibit E) (Doc. 1070).

August 6, 2022
o Current postconviction counsel's Investigator Steven Kirby met with Mr.

Sowinski and played for him the audio recording from November 6, 2005 at 10:28
p.m. Mr. Sowinski identified the voice on the call as his. Mr. Sowinski provided
Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel with an affidavit regarding his voice
identification. (See Exhibit F) (Doc. 1071).

96. As stated above, after a very thorough investigation of Mr. Sowinski individually

and of the accuracy of the information he provided as the Sowinski evidence, Mr. Avery's current
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postconviction counsel determined that the Sowinski evidence necessitates filing a third 8, 974.O6

motion,

97. In order for the defendant to prevail on the third component of the Brady analysis,

the suppressed evidence must be material. See State v. Harris, 2004 WI 64, $15, 272 Wis. 2d 80,

98, 680 N.W.2d 737 (citing Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 281-82 (1999)). "The evidence is

material only if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the

defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different." United States v. Bagley, 473

U.S. 667, 682 (1985).

98. InA-y/esv.Fhif/ey,514U.S.419,434(1995),theCourtnoted,"[t]hequestionis

not whether the defendant would more likely than not have received a different verdict with the

evidence, but whether in its absence he received a fair trial, understood as a trial resulting in a

verdict worthy of confidence." A "reasonable probability" is lower than a preponderance of

evidence standard. It is demonstrated where the defense shows that the failure "undermine[d]

confidence" in the conviction. Youngblood v. %st Virginia, 547 U.S. 867, 869-70 (2006).

99. Mr. Avery's conviction for first degree intentional homicide was, in large part,

based on trial defense counsel's unsuccessful efforts to name a third party Denny suspect that met

all of the Denny requirements. The Sowinski evidence meets the Denny requirements and makes

Bobby a third party Denny suspect in the murder of Ms. Halbach. Also, the Sowinski evidence

meets the Denny requirements of establishing Bobby as having framed Mr. Avery for the murder.

Bobby's possession of Ms. Halbach's vehicle gave him access and opportunity to plant Mr.

Avery's blood and DNA and to remove evidence from the vehicle and plant it in Mr. Avery's

bedroom (Ms. Halbach"s key) and burn barrel (Ms. Halbach's electronic devices). The Sowinski

new and material evidence was suppressed when the Manitowoc Sheriff's Office failed to

disclose the November 6, 2005 10:28 p.m. audio recording pursuant to defense discovery
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requests. The disclosure of the audio recording would have led to the identification of Mr.

Sowinski and the evidence he has provided which directly connects Bobby to the murder and the

framing of Mr. Avery. (Doc. 610:35-40) (715:35-40). (App. 316-21). The Sowinski evidence is

both material and favorable to Mr. Avery's case.

100. The Sowinski evidence is material because it makes Bobby a third party Denny

suspect in the murder as well as the source of the planted evidence that was used to convict Mr.

Avery. The Sowinski evidence also impeaches Bobby's testimony and refutes the State's theory

that Ms. Halbach's RAV-4 never left the Avery property and that Mr. Avery was the last person to

see Ms. Halbach alive. Further, "materially favorable" evidence not only includes exculpatory

evidence, but also evidence that is impeaching of a prosecution witness. Bagley, 473 U.S. at 676.

Evidence tending to demonstrate the lack of credibility of a prosecution witness is material,

especially where the prosecution's case depends on the credibility of that witness. Giglio v.

UnitedStates, 405 U.S. 150, 154-55 (1972).

101. Bobby was the State's primary witness against Mr. Avery at his trial. During his

opening statement, prosecutor Kratz explicitly informed the jury of the significance of Bobby's

putative observations on the date of Ms. Halbach's disappearance: "You are going to hear that

Bobby Dassey was the last person, the last citizen that will have seen Teresa Halbach alive."

(Doc. 589:104) (696:104). (App. 322). Bobby testified that he observed Ms. Halbach's vehicle

pull up in his driveway at 2:30 p.m. on October 31, 2005. Bobby then observed Ms. Halbach exit

her vehicle and start taking pictures of his mom's maroon van right in front of his trailer. Bobby

testified that he observed Ms. Halbach walking towards the door of Mr. Avery's trailer. He

testified that he never saw her again after that. He then testified that he took a three- or

four-minute shower and then left his trailer to go hunting. Bobby walked to his Chevy Blazer,

which was parked between the trailer and garage. He testified that as he walked to his vehicle, he
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observed Ms. Halbach's vehicle still parked in the driveway. He further testified that he did not

see Ms. Halbach or any signs of her. (Doc. 581:36-40) (689:36-40). (App. 323-27).

102. Contrary to Bobby's trial testimony that Ms. Halbach was still on the Avery

property when Bobby left "to go bow-hunting," Bryan, Bobby's brother, told law enforcement

that Bobby saw Ms. Halbach leave the Avery property on October 31, 2005. On November 6,

2005, special agents with the Wisconsin DOJ Division of Criminal Investigation interviewed

Bryan. When the investigators asked Bryan about the events of October 31, 2005, he told the

investigators that he was not at home during the day other than waking up and going to work. He

told the investigators the following:

Bryan said he heard from his room and Steven that Halbach was only at their residence
about s minutes. He heard she just took the photo of the van and left. Bryan said the
investigators should also talk to his brother Bobby, because he saw her leave their
property.

The State was in possession of this report at the time of Mr. Avery's trial. Despite knowing this

information, the State presented false testimony from Bobby. (Doc. 228:28-29; 227:33-39;

284:5) (630:28-29, l 1/6/05 DCI report; 631:33-39; 633 :5). (App. 328-37).

103. On October 16, 2017, Bryan provided current postconviction counsel with an

affidavit confirming that Bobby told him he saw Ms. Halbach leave the Avery property on

October 31, 2005. In his affidavit, Bryan stated as follows:

On or about November 4, 2005, I returned to my mother's trailer to retrieve some clothes,
and I had a conversation with my brother, Bobby, about Teresa Halbach. I distinctly
remember Bobby telling me, "Steven could not have killed her because I saw her leave
the property on October 31, 2005."

Bryan provided Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel with this affidavit after Mr. Avery's

second postconviction motion was filed and the circuit court ruled on it. (Doc. 228:30-31)

(630:30-31, Affidavit of Bryan Dassey) (App. 338-39).
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104. The Appellate Court highlighted the importance of the Sowinski evidence when it

stated the following in its July 28, 2021 0pinion:

To admit evidence at trial that Dassey could have killed Halbach, Avery would have had
to provide some evidence at the pretrial Denny hearing directly connecting Dassey to the
crime. See State v. Scheidell, 227 Wis. 2d 285, 296, 595 N.W.2d 661 (1999) (evidence
that another party committed the crime may be admissible pursuant to Denny if the
defendant can show: (l) the third party's motive, (2) the third party's opportunity to
commit the crime, and (3) some evidence directly connecting the third party to the
crime). That Dassey possibly possessed violent pornographic images might have
conceivably satisfied a separate requirement, motive, but is insufficient in and of itself to
allow admission of third party liability evidence. See id. Avery failed to meet the "direct
connection" requirement in his original Denny motion and has not presented additional
evidence on this point in Motion #4.

(Doc. 1056:40-41). (Opinion, pgs. 40-41). (App. 160-61). While the Appellate Court determined

that Mr. Avery did not have sufficient evidence to meet the Denny requirements to admit

evidence at trial that Bobby could have killed Ms. Halbach, it also advised that the Sowinski

evidence could be that missing "direct connection." (Doc. 1056:41). (Opinion, pg. 41, note 26).

(App. 161).

105. Because the Sowinski evidence was suppressed, trial defense counsel was not able

to establish Bobby as a third party Denny suspect or impeach Bobby's trial testimony as the

State's primary witness. As a result, Mr. Avery did not receive a fair trial. Mr. Avery had a

constitutionally guaranteed right to present a complete defense to the charges against him.

Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 324 (2006); State v. Pulizzano, 155 Wis. 2d 633, 645,

456 N.W.2d 325 (1990), citing Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 294-95 (1973).

106. Prior to the discovery of the Sowinski evidence, the Appellate Court stated that

impeaching Bobby would not have undermined the cumulative effect of the "significant forensic

(and other) evidence implicating Avery in a crime committed on his property." (Doc. 1056:42).

(Opinion, pg. 42 ffl 68). (App. 162). However, the discovery of the Sowinski evidence, transforms

this evidence from "implicating" Mr. Avery to implicating Bobby in the murder and planting
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evidence to frame Mr. Avery. Even if this Court determines that the evidence "implicating" Mr.

Avery remains significant, it is unconstitutional to refuse to allow a defendant to present a

defense simply because the evidence against him is overwhelming. State v. Wilson, 2015 WI 48,

!61, 362 Wis. 2d 193, 220, 864 N.W.2d 52. Because of the existence of the new Sowinski

evidence, Mr. Avery must be allowed to present a defense based upon it.

107. A reasonable probability of a different result exists if the suppressed information

undermines confidence in the verdict. Kyles, 514 U.S. at 434. The suppressed Sowinski call

undermines confidence in Mr. Avery's verdict. Its disclosure would have led to the discovery of

the Sowinski evidence, which establishes Bobby as a third party Denny suspect in both the

murder and planting of evidence to frame Mr. Avery. It also impeaches Bobby's trial testimony

which he fabricated in order to exculpate himself and frame Mr. Avery for the murder of Ms.

Halbach.

Mr. Avery is not procedurally barred from raising his Brady claim

108. A motion for relief under § 974.O6 "is a part of the original criminal action . . .

and may be made at any time." Wis. Stat. Fg 974.06(2). However, a defendant must meet certain

requirements:

All grounds for relief available to a person under this section must be raised in his or her
original, supplemental or amended motion. Any ground finally adjudicated or not so
raised, or knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently waived in the proceeding that resulted
in the conviction or sentence or in any other proceeding the person has taken to secure

relief may not be the basis for a subsequent motion, unless the court finds a ground for
relief asserted which for sufficient reason was not asserted or was inadequately raised in
the orizinal, supplemental or amended motion.

Wis. Stat. § 974.06(4) (emphasis added); State v. Allen, 2010 WI 89, $23, 328 Wis. 2d 1, 12-13,

786 N.W.2d 124.
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109. In State v. Escalona-Naranjo, 185 Wis. 2d 168, 185-86, 517 N.W.2d 157, 164

(1994), the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that any claim that could have been raised on direct

appeal or in a previous Wis. Stat. § 974.06 (1999-2000) postconviction motion is barred from

being raised in a subsequent S, 974.06 postconviction motion, absent a sufficient reason. Id. ffl 15.

The Escalona-Naranjo doctrine provides that a ground for relief raised by the defendant in a

later-filed § 974.O6 motion may be summarily denied by the trial court in its discretion, without a

decision on the merits of the claim, if the ground for relief could have and should have been

raised in the original, supplemental, or amended § 974.O6 motion.

110. In the context of a § 974.O6 motion, the defendant must describe, with specificity,

his or her "sufficient reason" for failing to raise the claim in any earlier proceeding-that is, the

defendant must show why his or her claim is not procedurally barred under § 974.06(4). See

State v. Romero-Georgana, 2014 WI 83, $37, 360 Wis. 2d 522, 543, 849 N.W.2d 668.

111. On April 12, 2021, Mr. Avery filed the Sowinski motion to stay his appeal and

remand for evaluation of a new claim. The Appellate Court determined that "the circuit court

should resolve on a standalone basis" the Sowinski motion "through a new Wis. Stat. § 974.06

motion." (Doc. 1056:46). (Opinion, pg. 46, % 77). (App. 166). The Appellate Court also stated

that "[p]ursuant to Escalona-Naranjo, Avery will need to demonstrate why he could not have

previously raised this claim, including in his June 2017 motion, before the merits can be

reached." (Doc. 1056:47). (Opinion, pg. 47, 'J78). (App. 167).

112. Current postconviction counsel could not have brought the Sowinski motion filed

with the Appellate Court prior to April 12, 2021 and the current motion prior to May of 2022.

Therefore the motions could not have been filed in any prior proceeding, including the filing of

the June 2017 second postconviction motion. The Sowinski evidence relayed by Mr. Sowinski to

the Manitowoc Sheriff's Office was never provided to Mr. Avery's prior counsel by the State.
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The Sowinski evidence was only discovered by Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel after

being alerted to its existence by Mr. Sowinski in December of 2020. Current postconviction

counsel had to then thoroughly investigate and corroborate Mr. Sowinski and the Sowinski

evidence. As Paragraph 83 above illustrates, Mr. kvery"s current postconviction counsel was

diligent in investigating and corroborating Mr. Sowinski and the Sowinski evidence.

113. The Sowinski evidence provided to the Manitowoc Sheriff's Office on November

6, 2005 was unknown to Mr. Avery and undiscoverable at the time of Mr. Avery's 2017

postconviction motion, 2013 postconviction motion, direct appeal, and 2007 trial. It could not

have been known or discovered by Mr. Avery because Mr. Sowinski had not come forward to

Mr. Avery's current postconviction counsel until April of 2021 and the State had suppressed the

audio recording of his November 6, 2005 phone call to the Manitowoc Sheriff's Office reporting

his observations on November s, 2005.

114. Therefore, the Sowinski evidence was unla'iown at the time of Mr. k-very's

conviction; was not discoverable by reasonable diligence, and was not under the control or

knowledge of Mr. Avery at any time prior to Mr. Sowinski contacting Mr. Avery's current

postconviction counsel in December of 2020.

115. It is axiomatic that the discovery of a Brady violation subsequent to filing a

motion pursuant to § 974.02 (or :§ 974.06) constitutes a sufficient reason for failing to raise the

issue in a prior motion. See State v. Allen, 2010 WI 89, $$ 44, 81, 328 Wis. 2d 1, 21, 786 N.W.2d

124 (noting a defendant's unawareness of the legal basis of his claim may constitute a sufficient

reason in satisfaction of 8, 974.06); see also State ex rel. Kyles v. Pollard, 2014 WI 38, T54, 354

Wis. 2d 626, 648, 847 N.W.2d 805 (the defendant's unawareness of the factual basis of his claim

was "inextricably intertwined" with the legal basis of his claim).
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116. Even if the court determines there is not a Brady violation, the Sowinski evidence

qualifies as newly discovered evidence as described above. Mr. Avery has a sufficient reason for

not having brought forth the newly discovered evidence (see infra, Argument II) because Mr.

Avery did not know and could not have known about the Sowinski evidence until Mr. Sowinski

came forward in December of 2020 after Mr. Avery's appeal was pending. See ?lliams v.

Taylor, 529 U.S. 420, 442 (2000).

117. Therefore, this Court should find that Mr. Avery is not procedurally barred from

raising his newly discovered evidence claim or his new Brady claim regarding the Sowinski

evidence.

III. A SECOND flunYViOLAT{ON RE HALBACH'S RAV-4

118. Kevin Rahmlow ("Mr. Rahrnlow") came forth to Mr. Avery's current

postconviction counsel with new information in July of 2017. Mr. Rahmlow provided an

affidavit and supplemental affidavit to current postconviction counsel. Because Mr. kvers7's

second postconviction motion was filed in June of 2017, these affidavits were filed in Mr.

Avery's motion to reconsider the circuit court's October 2017 ruling denying his second

postconviction motion. (Doc. 228:18; 394:2-7) (630:l 8; 634:2-7). (App. 340-51).

119. In Mr. Rahmlow"s affidavits, Mr. Rahmlow described observing Ms. Halbach's

RAV-4 parked at the turnaround at STH 147 and the East Twin River Bridge on November 3 and

4, 2005. Mr. Rahmlow describes, in his affidavit, reporting his observation to a Manitowoc

Sheriff's deputy he encountered on November 4, 2005 at the Cenex station on STH 147 in

Mishicot. No law enforcement report was ever generated by this Manitowoc Sheriff's deputy

memorializing the conversation between Mr. Rahmlow and this deputy.

120. Mr. Rahmlow's observation of Ms. Halbach's RAV-4 on November 3 and 4, 2005

is material to trial defense counsel's theory that evidence was planted to frame Mr. Avery. If the
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RAV-4 was spotted at the turnaround on Highway 1 47 on November 3 and 4, 2005, then it must

have been moved and planted on the Avery proper'ff before it was discovered on November s,

2005. Clearly, this information supports trial defense counsel's theory that the RAV-4 was

planted on the Avery salvage yard before it was discovered there on November s, 2005. Mr.

Rahmlow's observations, on November 3 and 4, 2005, of the Halbach vehicle at the turnabout off

of STH 147 is corroborative of Mr. Sowinski's observation of the RAV-4 being pushed down

Avery Road, which directly intersects STH 147, in the early morning hours of November s,

2005. Both witnesses support trial defense counsel's theory that the RAV-4 was planted.

121. Prosecutor Kratz admitted in his closing that the RAV-4 "couldn't be driven into

that property unless somebody la'iew that property . . . ." (Doc. 610:54) (715:54). (App. 352).

The only other evidence presented by the State that the R?AV-4 never left the Avery property after

October 31, 2005, was Bobby's testimony that the RAV-4 was still present when he left the

Avery property at 2:45 p.m. (Doc. 591:44) (697:44). (App. 353).

122. Trial defense counsel had no evidence from witnesses that the R?AV-4 was planted

and simply argued in the closing that there were "lots of ways to get in and. . . for someone to

plant the vehicle." (Doc. 610:182) (715:182). (App. 354).

Mr. Avery is not procedurally barred from raising his Erady claim

123. In the Appellate Court's July 2021 0pinion, the Appellate Court noted that in Mr.

Avery's motion for reconsideration, he raised the issue that "the State withheld evidence that

Halbach's vehicle was seen on the street days after her disappearance." (Doc. 1056:33).

(Opinion, pg. 33, note 18). (App. 153). The Appellate Court declined ruling on the issue but

advised the following:

Neither we nor the circuit court have squarely considered whether these claims are
procedurally barred under Escalona-Naranjo or whether Avery pled sufficient material
facts entitling him to a hearing (although our analysis overlaps with the former inquiry).
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Such consideration would have to come on a separately filed WIS. STAT. 83 974.06
motion, and we express no opinion as to whether such claims would be barred in the
event such a motion is filed.

(Id.)
124. Clearly, current postconviction counsel could not have included Mr. Rahmlow's

affidavits in its June 7, 2017 filing on behalf of Mr. Avery since Mr. Rahmlow had not yet come

forward with evidence that establishes a Brady violation. (Doc. 228:18-23) (630:18-23). (App.

340; 370-374). There is no way that Mr. Rahmlow could have been discovered by prior defense

counsel or current postconviction counsel because no law enforcement reports were prepared

about his conversation with the Manitowoc sheriff's deputy, nor did he appear in any other law

enforcement reports in the Halbach murder investigation. He had never been a customer at the

Avery Salvage Yard, and he had no connection to the family besides being acquainted with Mr.

Tadych's brother.

125. Mr. Avery was unable to discover the Brady violation with reasonable diligence

prior to the filing of his second postconviction motion in June of 2017 because Mr. Rahrnlow did

not come forward to Mr. Avery's counsel until after June of 2017. He came forward in July of

2017. It would be impossible for Mr. Avery to have raised his Brady claim without Mr. Rahmlow

first coming forward to current post-conviction counsel.

126. Therefore, Mr. Avery has a sufficient reason for not raising this issue previously

pursuant to Escalona-Naranjo.

IN THE ALTERNATIVE, MR. AVERY IS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL IN THE
INTEREST OF JUSTICE PURSUANT TO WIS. STAT. § 805.15

127. Alternatively, Mr. Avery is entitled to a new trial in the interest of justice. If this

Court were to conclude that this new evidence warrants a new trial in the interest of justice, this

Court need not resolve whether the new evidence satisfies the test for granting a new trial based

upon newly discovered evidence.
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128. Wis. Stat. fs; 805.15(l) establishes that the standard for granting a new trial, under

circumstances such as these, is whether this new trial would advance the interest of justice: "A

party may move to set aside a verdict and for a new trial because of errors in the trial, or because

the verdict is contrary to law of the weight of evidence, or because of excessive or inadequate

damages, or because of newly-discovered evidence, or in the interest of justice." (§ 805.15(1))

(emphasis added).

129. Courts may grant a new trial in the interest of justice whenever, either: (1) the real

controversy was not fully tried, or (2) it is probable that justice was for any reason miscarried.

State v. Hicks, 202 Wis. 2d 150, 159-60, 549 N.W.2d 435 (1996). In the first circumstance, when

the real controversy has not been fully tried, the court may grant a new trial without considering

whether the outcome would probably be different on retrial. Id. at 160.

130. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has established that new evidence can provide the

basis for a new trial in the interest of justice. In State v. Armstrong, the court ordered a new trial

in the interest of justice because new DNA tests established that biological evidence asserted by

the State at trial as having come from Armstrong could not have come from him. 2005 W?ll9,

283 Wis. 2d 639, 700 N.W.2d 98. Because "the jury was not given an opportunity to hear

important testimony that bore on an important issue in the case," the court found that "the real

controversy was not fully tried" and thus ordered a new trial. Id. at'fl 181; see also Hicks, 202

Wis. 2d at 161, 440 (a new trial was necessary in the interest of justice because the jury did not

hear important DNA evidence and heard evidence which was later shown to be inconsistent with

the DNA evidence). Similarly, in Garcia v. State, the court ordered a new trial because all of the

material evidence was not presented to the jury, and "the integrity of our system . . . should

afford a jury the opportunity to hear and evaluate the evidence . . . ." 73 Wis. 2d 651, 652, 245

N.W.2d 654, 654 (1976).
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131 . As argued above the new Sowinski and Rahmlow evidence is material, and needs

to be presented to a jury. The evidence refutes the State's theory that there were no third party

suspects and no evidence was planted to frame Mr. Avery. The jury never heard this evidence

and heard evidence that has now been refuted by this new evidence.

AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING IS RE0UIRED

132. "[T]he circuit court must hold a hearing when the defendant has made a legally

sufficient postconviction motion, and has the discretion to grant or deny an evidentiary hearing

even when the postconviction motion is legally insufficient." State v. Allen, 2004 WI 106, $12,

274 Wis. 2d 568, 579, 682 N.W.2d 433, 438.

133. The Wisconsin Supreme Court in State v. Allen determined that a motion contains

sufficient material facts, for an evidentiary hearing, if it includes, "the name of the witness

(who), the reason the witness is important (why, how), and facts that can be proven (what, where,

when) . . . and would entitle a defendant to a hearing." Id. 'fl 24, 586, 442.

134. Mr. Avery has sufficiently pled the name of the witness (Mr. Sowinski) and the

reason Mr. Sowinski is important (he provides evidence material and favorable to Mr. Avery by

directly connecting Bobby to the Halbach murder as a third party suspect and connecting Bobby

to planting evidence to frame Mr. Avery). All corroborating materials have been identified,

attached and incorporated into this motion (affidavits, law enforcement reports, trial testimony).

These corroborating materials demonstrate that Bobby is a third party Denny suspect because he

had motive, opportunity, and is directly linked to Ms. Halbach's murder. Additionally, he is a

Denny suspect who is directly linked to planting evidence to frame Mr. Avery by having access

to key evidence of the crime because of his possession of the Halbach vehicle. Additionally, a

new Brady violation has been identified as described previously in this motion. Sec. II. T 79-126.
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135. Similarly, Mr. Avery has sufficiently plead the name of the witness (Mr.

Rahmlow) and the reason Mr. Rahmlow is important (he provided evidence material and

favorable to Mr. Avery that refutes the State's theory and impeaches Bobby that the Halbach

vehicle never left the Avery property). Also, Mr. Rahmlow describes a new Brady violation. A

law enforcement report was never made of Mr. Rahmlow's conversation with a Manitowoc

Sheriff's deputy on November 4, 2005 about Rahmlow spotting the RAV-4 in a location away

from the Avery property. If trial defense counsel had had this information they would have been

able to refute the State's theory and impeach Bobby.

136. The Sowinski and Rahmlow evidence would have been material and favorable to

trial defense counsel because it would have undermined confidence in the verdict. Kyles v.

Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 434 (1995); Youngblood v. West Virginia, 547 U.S. 867, 869-70 (2006).

Because of the suppression of this evidence, Mr. Avery did not receive a fair trial. Mr. Avery had

a constitutionally guaranteed right to present a complete defense to the charges against him.

Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 324 (2006); State v. Pulizzano, 155 Wis. 2d 633, 645,

456 N.W.2d 325 (1990), citing Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 294-95 (1973).

137. If this Court is disinclined to believe the Sowinski or Rahmlow new evidence, the

Court must hold a hearing before making any credibility determinations. See State v. Allen, 2004

WI 106, at $12, 274 Wis.2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433 (citing State v. Leitner, 2001 WI App 172, %

34, 247 Wis. 2d 195, 633 N.W.2d 207 (holding that when credibility is an issue, it is best

resolved by live testimony)).

CONCLUSION

Mr. Avery respectfully requests that this Court grant him one of the following alternate

remedies: (1) Grant an evidentiary hearing; (2) grant this Amended Motion for Postconviction
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Relief by ordering a new trial; and (3) grant the requested relief and grant airy and all relief this

Court deems appropriate.

Dated this 24'h day of January, 2023

Respectfully Submitted,

'%,-i/rr Tu
KATHLEEN T. ZELLNER

Admitted Pro Hac Vice

ILBarNo. 6184574

Kathleeii T. Zelliier & Associates, p.c.
4580 Weaver Parkway, Suite 204
Warrenville, IL 60555
Telephone: (630) 955-1212
Email: attorneys@zellnerlawoffices.com

4

STEVEN G. RICHARDS

WI Bar No. 1037545

(Local Counsel)
Everson & Richards, LLP
127 Main Street

Casco, Wisconsiii 54205
Telephone: (920) 837-2653
Email: sgrlaw@yahoo.com
Attorneys for Petitioner
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Wisconsin Division of Ctiminal lnvesUgation Case Report
Case/Report Number: 05-1776/284

'%

On Tuesday, J une 6, 2006, at 2:04 p-m, S/A Thornas J. Fassbender arxi hrvestig3tor Mark Wegerl,
of thc Cakmet Cou*) Shcrfs Dcpartmeni ?rviwed Bmd A. Dassey, DOB l l/01/1983. The
ivestjgators made confact wah Dassey at ti resHence, 1425 N 9"1, #8, Mankowoc, WI. Tbe
mes%ptors Her?d tternsetves to Dassey arxl Dassey agreed to arswer questmns and he
accompanffid the ivestjgators to Investitor Wegert's vehib wbete dz mervmw took pbce.
Dassey advmed he 5s. haF brothers ? Brendan Dassey and stated that bs fakr, Pete Dassey,'s
them comrmn fathcr.

Dassey confirmed that be had comacted b Dmtrx:t Attorney re@rd: Barbara Janda having
corbcted hm about re-fonratting her compukr hard dt#e. Dassey advmd kt Janda had
contactcd hm and asked hm f everything % gone from a ? drnz wmn k % re-fommtted. Dasscy
advmed that Janda actually had someone cbe re-fi:irmit il, but Dassey advted tx: dxl tut know wbo
dH L Dassey admed the otkr person re-formitted her comp&r ? drme for sorned% Ike $15
mxl she dmt ? he know what he was do%

Dassey adv'med according to Jarxla, ivestigators camc out ard took her compu!er about a week
after she had k re-formatted. Dassey advscd that Jarxia toU t? about k ives%ators taking thc
compuicr appmx?te§ one week afler they had taken the computer. Dassey ad'med that Jarxla
dxl not tell htm what was on her computer.

Dassey tokl the iest$tors ttmt h= wrotc a k,tter to the Ha(bach's. Dassey advmed he toM Brerdan
about thc btter he wrote just this past Sunday. Dassey advised that Jarxla am saw the letter.
Dassey promcd a copy of lhe btter he wrote. In the btter, Dassey essenjmny expressed hs
sympathy to tbem for the bss of Teresa and wrolc a prayer for fbcm sr the ktter, he wrote that be %
not &e Brendan, Janda or Steven Avery.

Pnor to conckxl% thc ?rvmw, S/A Fassbendcr provHcd Dassey wkh his busmss card, The
?rvew was conckded at 2:l 8 p.ra

At approx?teh5 2:34 p.rn, S/A Fassbender icccmed a tebphone can from Dassey. Dassey
advffied that he had spoken 'sA* Jarxia to try arxj find out who re-forrrmtted her computer hard dr#e-
Dassey advffied sha tokJ ? that M*hael J. Korne§ gave her phone numbers of fflffluah to

contact and trot Cornclli knows WIX) the ??ual was. Dassey advmed trot afler conc!uding his cau
wTh Jarxla, Janda caned back and asked why he warbd to ktx+w.

At approx?tety 3:01 p.m, Dasse.y agai tck,phoned S/A Fassbcnder. Dassey advmed that te rod
contacted Cornelli, who sad that he re&rrcd Janda to Mkaukee PC.

Narratffie Page l

This documenl contains neither recommendalions nor conclusions cf the DMsion a Criminal

Investigation. ]t is lhe properly of this Division, arbd is loaned to y:iur agency. //s contents are not lo be
distributed oulsida your agency.
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E&,ctronLa[ty atfached to h suppk=rnental rcport m a copy of Dassey's letter to thc Habach's and a
copy wffl be submkd to DCL

u

Narmtrve Page 2

This dxument cordains neilher recommendations nor conclusions c[ the DMsirn a Criminal

lnvesligafion. It is tts property of this DMsim, and is Ioaned to your agency Its confenls am not to be
distribufed outside your agency.
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God jus!let the Halbach's know that you are thcre for them. You WON'T )et tbem down. You WILL
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Walker,Ernll7A. Person. Female Wlilte 6/2/f987 Mentloned'
/WerYiStevenAllenSr Person ,Male WhTte 7/9/1962 Personoflnterest
Dassey,BrendanR Pers6n Male white ioiigitgsg Pergonoflnterest

05-lT7sl3o4'
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qReportingLEO? ?? :o a- -' i+ ? i ?r ?oale,"': ,+o'aiiaa"iS?upe'rvisori;iil. 'sasl," 1'?--ai?i -'aoro - Date ; ' "1

Asslgnments /Wlsconsln Dapartmi
Fassbender, Thomas J (Appletori S?

Justlce DCI)
==='f Kelly, Carolyn S (Madlson Arson /

Wlsconsln Department of Justlce DCI) l12/1;U2008

r r l 1l

"""- "-'-'l
.::4!'1ins .6n xne§ll?OQ -page"}gri.%{-i' ?L???": ?l?,,??"'b2,?'?)J+ " ? i?" i 4, '? ,,%A v1 i '- ? 1 * , :i,-%'4 t , ' %? ;I, %. ?%,,??,, <i
W

Th{s tepod /s properly or Wisconsin Case Managemenl. Neilher 11 or ils crnlenls may be disseminaled lo unaulhotized parsonnel.

fassbendertJ 12/12/2006 14:48 1 Paga 1 of 3
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Wisconsin Division of Crirninal lnvestlgatlon Case Report
Caee/Report Numbar: 05-1 77G/304

On Friday, Apnt 21, 2006, pursuant to search warrant, S/A Thorrms J. Fassber6er and hrves$tor
Mark Wiegerl of thc Ca?t Count Shergs Departrrent semd a personal computer CPU and ] 2

' CD-R's from the resHence ofBarbara Janda.

On Saturday, April 22, 2006, S/A Fassbender tratxfen'ed saH kems to Detectwe Mke Velie, of the
Gran4 Chute Pouce Departtnent for forersms examtnattn.

On Thursday, May I 1, 2006, Detectrve Velie rcturned said' hm to S/A Fassbender for subsequent
return to Barbara Janda. S/A Fassbender subsequerJy received from Detectwe VeUe rnatcrmls
perta? to bn computcr miatysfi of the hard drme and CD-R's. This ffihxled numerous hard copy
pa@s oflmtani message conversations from the hard dr#e; and a CD tbd "Dassey's Compuier,
Fffil Report, Investjga(#e Copy," The CD contamd mrrnat3on on web snes ard r@s from the
harddrme. Aho provided by '6et. Velie were 6 DVD+Rs corhffig a copy of the harddr#e. S/A
Fassbender e?cd' the krns rece#ed and made the fol)owing observat6ns:

l ' -

On Eebniary 28, 2006,lhere was an isTant rnessa7e conversatin between an d?ual usig the
screen narre "nigerforUfe," believed to be Brendan Dassey, and an mdMdual using lhe scrcen name
a'pfikup my hand break my %erm and when they feel numb i'll let you know i will smearn until i"rn
out of breath,"(Danmy?fabiati6495269747, beUeved to be Danny Fabffin). Di.uig saH convcrsat6n,
Fabm asked Dassey why detect#es wanted to speak w& Fabian's brother and Dassey stated they
just wanted to ask t? why Dassey was bsing we§t.

On Februmy 28, 2006, there was an ?t message conversatLn between Dassey and an MMdual
usig tm screen narre "i gottta make k to heaven fo go i lhrough kbT' (sbivrnot6n4yal091495196),
believed to be Enuty, a recent @lfrind of Dassey's, Dur% saW conversatLn, ErnXly asked 'Do you
? he % giay?;'- 'Dassey responded, "fa Yea," ?-then asked, "Why do you," and Dassey
responded, '1 don't know enough to say,"

On March 4, 2006, tmre was an itant message conversatmnabetween m'i id?ual using Dassey's
screen r? of " i?rforl&," who Men6fed themiehies as 'Brendan's rnom," and the pe[son ?g
the screen name, 'EMn,Y," believed to be Ernity. Durmg sad conversat6n, Err% advised that her
rnokr doesn't want her to be mvotved w& lhis and she apologizes for that, Barbara Janda
responded, "He's not a bad person, his uncb 6."

On Fe,bnmy 28, 2006, thcre was an nstant rncssage conversaton between Dassey and an idmidual
using the screen narne,"-jr rnofia-nies !!i !bkhes, bkcbes every where i bok there is bkhes! !!juue i
kive u to deth!!" (super hotty 6924154349921), believed to be Travis Fabmn. ?g said
conversatmn, Dassey asked Fabian if he thought Steven was gu% and Fabian responded, '!dk," (for

Narrat#e Page l

This document contains neither recommendatiom nor conclusions of the Division of Criminal
lnvestlgation. It is the property of this Division, end is loaned to y:iur agency. Its contents are tut fo be
distrfbuted outside your agency.

STATE 1 99'l6
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Wlsconsin Divlsion of Criminal Investlgation Case Report
case/Report Number: 05-1776/304

I dont know), '5i." Fabian then asked Dassey Y he felf Avery was guUty. Dassey responded, 'Ya
Etnity asked that to rne"- Fabian asked what Dassey saH and Dassey wrote, 'Ya," and 'Yea"-
Fabm then repeated, 'You saed Ya he's guky".

On February 28, 2006,there was an mtant massage conversat6n between Dassey and an idfflual
usig the screen name, 'Frffind4 is bng Iost k+ve, that you wish you'u be able to overcome,"
(wing)ess-angeA2006173960984), be&ved to be Marm Avery. Durig saU conversatmn, Dassey
asked Marm Avery Y sl'ie thought Steven was guitty arxl Mari Avery responded, "Yes yes yes y es
yes yes yes finaty" ', D,assey tmn wrote, "So do I now of the emence they got".

In revffiwq tbe imagcs conta? on the disc marked final report, S/A. Fassbender made the
aatonowing observatmns:

Photographs of both Teresa Hatach and Steven kvery wTh an apparent date ofAprn 18, 2006.

Tbere were numerous mges of nudky, both mak and femak., to ffitude pornography. The
pornogyaphy ickided both beterosexual krmsexual and bestiauty. There were tmages depic%
bondage, as weu as possibk= tortye and pain. There were also text ?ges w& the narre, 'T3rt%" .
There we.ye ?ges depitig .poter&l young 'fernales, to mhide. an mnt defeca%. There were
mges of iji.uis to humans, ;o mkide a decaphted tead, a ?baQr ijured mxi bloodied body, a
b)oody kad ijury, and a mutihted body.

The dmc recemed from Detect#e Ve&, as well as Ure hardcopy pagcs of ? rressage
conversatins were m?id 'rn S/A Fassbender's possess5n.

Narratme Page 2

This documenl contains neilher mcommendalions norconclusions of lhe Division of Criminal
lnvestigalion. 17 is the property of this DMsion, and is loaned to youragency Its contents are nol /o be
distributed outside youragancy.
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STATE OF WISCONSIN : CIRCUIT COURT: MANITOWOC COUNTY

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaixitiff,

V.

STEVEN A. AVERY,

Defendant.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No. 05-CF-381

Hoiiorable Judge Angela Sutkiewicz,
Judge Presidiiig

AFFIDAVIT OF STEVEN KIRBY

Now comes your affiant, Stevcn Kirby, and under oath licreby states as follows:

1. Your affiant is of legal majority and can tnttl'ifiilly arid competently testify to the matters

coiitaiiied herein based upon my personal lcnowledge. Tlie factual staten'ients liereiii are

true arid correct to tbe best of my knowledge, iiiformation, arid belief. Your affiaiit is of

sound mind arid is not takiiig airy medication nor has your affiaiit iiigested airy alcohol that

would ii'iipair yo?ir affiant's memory of tlte facts stated in tl'iis affidavit.

2. Yo?ir affiaiit is the Cliairmaii of Edward R. Kirby & Associates, Inc., a professional

investigatioxis firm Iocated iii Elmliurst, Illixiois. Your affiant is a private investigator,

licei'ised ixi Illiiiois arid Wisconsin, with over forty years' experience. l ltave worked witl'i

Katlileen T. Zellner & Associates, I).C., on iuimero?is cases iii the past.

3. 011 February 16, 2022, yo?ir affiaiit iiiterviewed Michael Osrnuiisoii outside of l'iis residence

at 955 Main Street, Misliicot. Jim Kirby was also present and witnessed the intervicw ai'id

OsmLlllsoll's responses.

4. Yo?ir affiaiit asked him if lie ester helped Bobby Dassey p?isli a car dowi'i the road lcadiiig

to the Avery Salvage yard. He replied, "I doii't recall." Yo?ir affiaiit tliei'i asked him if by
EXHIBIT

sayiiig lie didn't recall, if iii ('act Iie co?ild have helped Dassey l)LIsI? a car down that road ii'i
B
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November of 2005 but just forgot if lie did. He replied, "I doii't remember." At tbe

conclusioxi of the interview, )io?ir affiant told l'iim that yo?ir affiant wanted to be sure that

l'ie was riot denyiiig ever lxisliiiig a car with Dassey towards the Avery property b?it that lie

just co?ildn't recall if l'ie did or did riot. For the third lii'ne replied, "I doii't recall."

s. In regard to the phoxie calls 011 0ctober 31, 2005 to arid from Bobby Dassey's phone

number, he said lie didn't recall ii'iakiiig or receiviiig calls from Dassey tl'iat morniiig. Wl'ien

he was SIIOW?? the print out of the message unils, he said that 920-973-05]4 was his number

in 2005 arid recognized 920-973- }742 as Bobby Dassey's number. He stated that the early

mornixig call co?ild have been about l'iunting but l'ie didii't lcnow for sure. Wlien asked if lie

went l'iunting with Bobby tl'iat day lie said that lie didn't as lie took his brother trick or

treatiiig. When asked about the multiple calls to arid from Bobby Dassey between 3:56

P.M. arid 6:02 P.M. 011 10/31/05 l'ie said that l'ie couldn't explaiii tl'iem otl'ier tl'iai'i tl'iat

"Bobby often doesn't answer his own pl'ione."

FURTHER AFFIANT SAYETH NAUGI{T

dh- A? L?z
Steven Kir6y ,9

Subscribed and swoyn before mcscribecl ana SWOXI? Lieiore mc
?lL? day of [4 wq ',h.-,f , 2022.this

-J

J-r ,,,J
N;1arf aPublic

- a ? & ? M * * m P m P'll

?sm
SCOTT T PANEK

NOTARY PUBLIC, STATE OF ILL?NOIS

&ff

1
MY COMMISS?ON EXPIRES: 5/2112025

%ff:'
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STATE OF WISCONSIN: CIRCUIT COURI-: MANITOWOC COUNI-Y

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff,

V.

STEVEN A. AVERY,

Defendaiit.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No. 05-CF-38l

Honorable Judge Angela S?itkiewicz,
Judge Presidiiig

AFFIDAVIT OF JAMES R. KIRBY

Now comes yous- affiant, James R. Kirby, and undcr oath hereby statcs as follows:

1. Your affiaiit is of legal majority arid can trutlil'ully and competently testify to the n'iatters

contained herein based ?ipoii si'iy personal knowledge. Tlie fact?ial statements liereixi are tme

and correct to the bcst of my knowledge, iiiforn'iatioxi, arid belief. Yo?ir affiaiit is of so?iiid

ii'iind i'ior has your affiaiit iiigested airy alcol'iol that would impair yo?ir affiaiit's memory of

tl'ie facts stated iii this affidavit.

2. YoLlr affiaiit is tl'ie liresidei'it of Edward R. Kirby & Associates, Inc., a professional

it'ivestigations firm located iii Elmluirst, {llinois. Yo?ir affiaiit is a licensed lirivate

investigator ai'icl have been licensed siiice 1988. Your affiant is c?irrently licensed iii Illiiiois

arid Wisconsiii.

3. Oii Marcli 20, 2018, your affiam submitted a I%blic Records Req?iest to the Maiiitowoc

Coui'ity Slieriff' s Office wliicli read: seeking an)i nrm-91 l recordings in your possession qf'

incoming phone C(///S lo lhe iWcmilowoc Coyml)i Joinl Dislyalch Cenlerfrom/on iVo>iember

3, 2005 cmd iS{osiember 5,. 2005.

EXHIBIT
:

fl C
5
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4. Your affiant s?ibseq?iemly received a package isi the mail fi'oin the Maiiitowoc Co?iiity

Slieriff's Office, wliicli iiicluded two CDs arid a letter daled April 12, 2018 addressed to mc

signed by Larry Ledvina, Deputy Inspector, Maiiitowioc County Slieriff's Office stating:

" T41e have receisied and reviewed your reqztesf for myy /70/? (911) recordings in your
possession of Dycoining ccdls lo lhe i'vjcnyiloxioc Counl)i Joinl Dispalch Cenler
froiiy/on Nosiember 3, 2005 azid ATosiember s, 2005. T/?O dates in question are
outside of our recording syslem slorage. Bul in lhe timeframe you requesled
recordingfoi-, copies viere made oflhis timeframe due lo a differenl records requesl
and iiie Iherefore haiie some of these recordings. The recordings we have are just
recordings. They are date range of recordings. They are nol broken down by date
aiqd lime. I have two CDs enclosed Ihaf are responsisie lo your requesl:

Phone zwmber 683-4201 dmed 20051103-1105

Phone number 683-4202 dated 20051103-1112

s. Tl'iese CDs were deIivered to tl'ie office of Katl'ileen T. Zellner subsequent to yo?ir affiant

receiving lliem.

6. On Marcb 15, 2022, Investigalor Katl'ieriiie McGoverii of your affiaiit's office submitted tl'iree

p?iblic records req?iested to the Maiiitowoc County Slieriff's Office. Tlie first req?iest so?ight

copies of an)i non 911 recordings in )iour possession of incoming lelephone C(///S lo //?(?

Maiqilowoc Counly Sherif's joinl Dispcilch Ceiqter beliiieen //7(? dales of ATovenyber 3, 2005 al

12:01 AM lhrough ATovember 9, 2005 al 11:59 PAil Tlie second req?iest so?igbt copies of

incoming mzd outgoing Ielephone call logs of //7(? recorded i'vfaniloyiioc Counfy Sheriff's Joinl

Dis)yatch calls between the dates oj'Nosiember 3, 2005 12:01 AiW thro't.tgh Nosieinber 9, 2005

/ 1:59 Pi'vf fhal relale fo //7C Teresa Halbach in'i>esligalion. hdorrnalion shottld inchtc{e &de,

lime and lelephone numbers insiolved in //?O ccdls. Tlie third req?iest sought copies (!7" audio

recordings of incoming cmd oulgoing ccdls mvd/or radio dispalches belweeiq Ihe dales oj'

iSroiieinber 3, 2005 12:01 PM thro'ttgh iVosien'iber 9, 2005 l l.'59 PM //?(7/ relate to //70 Teresa

I-[albctch insie.sligctlion.

2
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7. On April 18, 2022, Katlieriiie McGoverii from your aff-iaiit's office receisied an email from

Amanda Matliiebe of tl'ie Manitowoc County Sherifj-s Office regardiiig these req?iests. In this

email, Amanda Matl'iiebe replied that she was updatmg Ms. McGovern regardiiig her requests

of copies of incoming/outgoing telephone call logs, sl'ie responded that these records do not

exist.

8. In reference to the request for copies of audio recordings of iiicomii'ig arid o?itgoing phone

calls, she attached asi iiivoice iii the amount of $360.00 for these records. Sl'ie req?iested your

affiaiit's office ren'iit payment so that she may begixi workiiig os'i copying these records. Your

affiant's office subsequently paid the invoice for the req?iested amo?mt.

9. On May 3, 2022 yo?ir affiaiit's office received thirty-five CDs ii'iarked as contaiiiiiig audio

recordiiigs from 'Che Maiiitowoc County Slieriff's Office. 011 May 3, 2022, your affiaxit

delivered tl'ie 35 CDs to tlte office of Kathleen T. Zellner.

10- A recordiiig of a pl'ioiie call fiaom November 6, 2005 at 10:28 p.m., which was contained within

one of the 35 CDs produced from yo?ir affiaiit's second Public Records Reqtiest, was

discovered by your affiaiit arid tl'ie office of Katlileen T. Zellner. Your affiaiit listened to this

call.

ll. Youi- affiaiit listened to the two CDs produced to your affiaiit after yo?ir affiant's first Public

Records Request to the Maiiitowoc County Slieriff's Office iii Marcli of 2018.

12. Tlte recording of the November 6, 2005 plioiie call iii which Mr. Sowiiiski's iioice was

identified was i'iot iii the initial discs provided to your affiant followiiig yo?ir affiaiit's Marcli

20, 2018 Public Records Request.

3
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FURTHER AFFIANT SAYETI-I NAUGHT

] c., ,(g Jt,J!,
,Tafs R. Kirby /

tl'iis ??l? day of
Subscribed arid swivqn before mi

-/+sq.b,>+
e

, 2022.
,J

.,t-r-a
Notary P?'iblic

('-

]

4
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2005CFOOO381

EXHIBIT D
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STATE OF WJSCONSm : CIRCUIT COURT : MANITOWOC COUNTY

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff,

V.

STEVEN A. AVERY,

Defendant.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No. 05-CF-38l

Honorable Judge Angela Sutkiewicz,
Judge Presiding

AFFmAVnT OF DEVON NOVAK

Now comes your affiant, Devon Novak, and under oath hereby states as follows:

I. I mn of Iegal majority and can truthfully and competently testify to the matters contained

herein based upon my personal knowledge. The factual statements herein are true and

correct to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief. I am of sound mind and I am

not taking any medication nor have I ingested any alcohol that would impair my memory

of the facts stated in this affidavit.

2. I have resided in Manitowoc, Wisconsin for over 17 years.

3. In 2005, I was in a relationship with Thomas Sowinski and residing with Thomas Sowinski

and his son at 4221 I-Iighway R, Manitowoc, Wisconsin.

4. Around the time that it became known that Teresa Halbach was missing, Thomas Sowinski

provided me with information of an unusual nature relating to the case. One morning, after

his paper route delivery, during the week that Ms. Halbach disappeared, Mr. Sowinski told

me the following event had occurred: He had been delivering papers, and he saw two men

pushing a car down a road. Tlie men gave him dirty looks. Later, while watching the news,

Mr. Sowinski saw Ms. Halbach's car and realized it was the same car that the men were

pushing down a road. plT
lnNT- E
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s. Thomas Sowinski reported what he told me about the incident to the Manitowoc County

Sheriff's Department. I know that he called them because either I was there when he

reporated it or he reported making the call to me immediately after making the call.

6. On August s 2022, I spoke to Steven Kirby, an investigator on behalf of Steven Avery.

Mr. Kirby asked me to listen to a voicemail recording of a call between a woman named

Carla from Manitowoc County Sheriff's Depmtment and a male calling in to speak to

someone about the Teresa Halbach case. Mr. Kirby asked me if I recognized the voice of

the male on the phone in the recorded call, and ]: recognized that the male in the call was

Thomas Sowinski. (Attached and incorporated herein as Group Exhibit "A" is the phone

call and a transcript of the phone call).

7. Nothing has been promised or given to me in exchange for this affidavit.

FURTI{ER AFFIANT SAYETH NAUGHT

9A7,Aw

Devon Novak

State of Wisconsin

County of AA, &) ( ta?)(e,?0(,

Subscribed and sworn before me

this 12?j?? day of [aqys( , 2022.

q-? A%-? ? ? ? 4h "

BERNARD R STANGEL
Notary Public

State of Wisconsin

G?
Notary P'W /

My Cornmission Expires:
,n)N- V, >o;m
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Traiiscript of Plioiie Call

MCSD Manitowoc Coxmt)i Sheriff's Deparhnent. This is Cai4a. Can f help )iozt?

Male Uh...I...I...Idon'tknowifl...ifit'sgoodinforim:ttion...badinfori>iation. Whodoltalkto
abom this... the girl who is missii'ig from Hillbert.

MCSD I can haste yozt speak witl'i m)i shift coimriander. Can )1021 hold oiy a inoinent?

Male Thank you

MCSD Sxtre

MCSD (Uiyintelligible) ...('yn going to transfer you to the shift coininander. You'll be talking wtth
Sgt. (unintelligible). Okay?

Male Tha>zk you.

MCSD Okay.

(Call being haansferred. Ringing.)

Sgt. ('[]nintelligible)

MCSD Scott, W/7(?7? I hang zp it's a man on the phone who thinks he has some maybe more leads.
He wants to speak with somebody 07? the case.

Sgt. Alright.

(End oj cail)
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STATE OF WISCONSIN: CIRCUIT COURT : MANITOWOC COUNTY

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff,

V.

STEVEN A. AVERY,

Defendant.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No. 05-CF-381

I-Ionorable Judge Angela Sutkiewicz,
Judge Presiding

AFFIDAVIT OF THOMAS SOWINS]Fa

Now comes your affiant, Thomas Sowinski, and under oath hereby states as follows:

1. I am of legal majority and can tmthfully arid competently testify to the matters contained

herein based upon my personal knowledge. The factual statements herein are true and

correct to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief. I am of sound mind and I am

not taking any medication nor have I ingested any alcohol that would impair my memory

of the facts stated in this affidavit.

2. I resided in Manitowoc, Wisconsin for over 20 years.

3. I mistakenly stated in '$ 7 of my prior affidavit filed with the appellate court that I contacted

"Avery's trial attorneys to inform them of what I saw." My prior affidavit is attached and

incorporated herein as "Exhibit A."

4. After reviewing materiafs, my recollection was refreshed that I did not actually contact Mr.

Aveiy's trial defense counsel, Mr. Buting and Mr. Strang. I realized after looking though

my emails that rather than contacting Mr. Avery's trial attorneys, I had contacted the

Innocence Project in New York and I never heard back. My email to Innocence Project is

attached herein as "Exhibit B." d

EXHIBIT
a

'a
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s. I met with Investigator Steven Kirby for Mr. Avery's postconviction counsel on August

jg2., 2022. He played a phone call recording to me (Attached and incorporated herein as

"Exhibit C" is the transcript and recording). I recognize my voice on the phone call made

to the Manitowoc Sheriff's Office, which I described in my prior affidavit (Ex. A).

6. After listening to the first part of my call to the MSO, I refreshed my recollection that a

woman answered the phone, and that she transferred me to a male officer. I then provided

the information stated in my prior affidavit. I mistakenly recalled in my prior affidavit ('j

6) that I had only spoken to a female officer, but after my recollection was refreshed by

listening to a recording of the first part of my call, I realized that I also spoke to a male

officer.

7. Nothing has been promised or given to me in exchange for tbis affidavit.

FURTHER AFFIANT SAYETH NAUGHT

Xs, L.ii?-
Thomas Sowinski

State of Wisconsin

Countyof z!10H:,-,;,..):?,6

Subscribed and sworn before me

this ? dayof d,)5 .>,, 1- ,2022.
l

r'i ? p i.??-

Notary Nublic/ {]

BERNARD R STANGEL
Notary Pub'li'c

State of Wiscoansin

Z

My Commission Expires:
{'J"E- ? ?d

j
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..Case 2017APOO2288 Molion (or Remand and S!a){ 01 Appeal Filed 04-12-2021 Page8olll

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff,

V.

STEVBN A. AVERY,

Defendant.

)
>
>
>
)
)
)
>
)

Case No. 05-CF-381

Hoiiorable Judge Angela Su}kiawicz,
Judge Presiding

1. I mn of legal majority and cau tm(lifidly and coinpetently testify to the matters conlatned

licrciii L+ascd upon nsy persona! laiowlcdge. The factual s(atemeiits herein are trueand

correct to the best of my knowledge, informatton, arid belief. l am of sound mtnd and I

am riot taking any medication nor liava l iiigested airy alcohol that would impair my

memory of the facts slated in this affidavit.

2. I resided in Mai'iitowoc, Wisconsin for over 20 years.

3. Iii 2005, I was en'iployed as a mo(or route driver at Gamiett Newspapers, Inc. and

delivered papers iss and around the Avery Salvage Yard. Wliilc delivering papcrs, ldrove

n'iy pcrsoiial car, wliicli was a tannisli-gold 4-door sedan. I caimot recall the make and

mode! of the car at this time.

4. Oii Saturday, November s, 2005, I was delivciing papers on the kvet's/ Salvage Yatd in

tlse eatly morniiig hours before sunrise. I drove down Higliway 147 and turned lafl onto

Avery Road. Sooii aftcr l ltiriicd onto Avci-y Road, } wi{iiessed an individual who I Iatcr

realized was Bolrby Dassey arid another tiiiidentified older male p?tshing a dark blue

RAV-4 down Avciy Road oit (lie rtglit sidc towards tl'ic jut'ikyard. Bobby Qasspv was
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C,ase2037APOO228B MotionforFlemandandStayo}Appeal Filed 04-1 2-2021 Page9olll

sl'urtless, even tltougb it was early Novembei: Tlie second mai'i appeared to be in his 50's

or early 60's, had a long grey beatd, was wenriiig a worn p?tffy jacket, had a larger frame,

and was around 6 fect iii lieiglit. Tlie RAV-4 dtd not have its lights on. Attaclied arid

incorpoi'ated liereiii as Exliibit A are pliotograplis mmked where } saw tl'ie RAV-4.

s. l drove. down Avery Road towards the ma{lboxes, left the I4erald Times ii'i the mailbox,

and tut'ncd back around. I felt very atraid as I approached the two individuals bccause

Bobby Dassey attempted to step in front of my cai; blocking my exit. l was within s reet

of Bobby Dassey and sny lieadligbts were on the entire lime. The older man ducked down

behind the open passenger door. I svveized to the i'ight and drove iii the shallow dilcli to

avoid liittiiig Bobby Dassey. } called otit, "Paperboy. Golta go" because } was afraid for

sriy safety. Bolrby Dassey looked me in the ey,, and I could tell with the look iii his eyes

that lie was not happy to see me tlure. I laiew that BobL+y Dassey and the older individual

were doing something creepy.

6. After I learned that Teresa I-Ialbacli's car was fotiiid on November s, 2005, I contac(ed the

Manitowoc Sl'ieriffs Office arid spoke (o a female officer. I reporLed cveiytliing I have

s(ated iii tbis affidavit to the officer. Tlie officer said, "We already know who did il." I

provided my plioiiei iminber and they said tliay would contact me soon. } xievcr heard

back from the police.

7. After watcliiiig Seasoii 1 of Makiiig a Murderer, } cosi€acled kvery's trial attorneys lo

informs them of what I saw. I ngver licard back.

8. Notliiiig has been proiniscd or given to me in exchange for this affidavit.
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FURTHER AF][lNANT SAYETH NAUGHT

<,?
Tliomas Sowmski

State of Wisconsin

County of (a ?tJ t rD'uJUf,

Subscribed and sworn before me

tliis.%?Q.dayofApnl ,2021.

?p x?
Npiy Public

MyCoxiunissioiiExpires: M 2Cr22-

m
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[j'<g':d Gmail Kathleen Zellner <a}torneys@zellnerlawoffices.com>

FW: Avery Sowinski email

Jlm K}rby <jkirby@kirbyinvestigations.com>
To: Ka}hleen Zellner <attomeys@zellnetlawofflces.com>

Tue, Apt 13, 2021 at 3:al8 PM

From: Thomas Sowinski <quesl87@yahoo.com>
Sent: Tuesday, April 13, 202al 3:17 PM
To: Jim Kirby mikirby@kirbyinves(igalions.com>
SubJect: Fw: Avery

Senl rrom Yahoo Mail for iPhone

8egin forsyarded message:

On Thursday, January 7, 2016, 1 :43 PM, (quest87 <tquest87@yahoo.com> wrote:

Hello. My name is Thomas Sowinski and l delivered newspapers to lhe Avery res}dence everyday for years. I delivered papers at the lime of the
halbach 'siituation. Somewhere between Oct 31st and November 5th 2005, not sure which day, I turned down avery road to delivery their paper
when I almost ran into 2 people pushing a dark colored small suv down the road with absolutely no Iighls on. It was dark ad l delivered lhe papers
as soon as possible eac+i day so l coula get home In ume to get my son ready ruar school and clrop him off. As l passed Ihem I realized I had
s(umbled on(o something that seemed out of place. I spooked bo}Fi of them (iemendously- I drove down }he dead end and put the paper in (he
tube and turned around ro come back down U'ie road. Ia knew l was in a shady siluaUon so l approached them wiu'i a good amount of speed }o get
around them fast. As I approached }he guy pushing from the driver side stopped and lried to slop ke in lhe middle of the road. l wen} haIr in thg
di(ch and just waved to caalm the men !n{o ih!nking r was oblivious to what vvas going on. l didn'} she who the man was on lhe passenger side bu!
the young man, maybe 18 or so that tr}ed to stop me was not brendan dassey. -His build was thin and fil and aboul 5'9' tall. Days laler af!er
seerng (h"e rooiage on t.v. of lhe rav 4 being found on the properly If clk.ked that It wad probaby lhe suv l had seen (hat night. I called police and
notified them. They didn'l Semmes interested at all and said thanks for the info. Never askecl me to fill out a report or even ask for my name or
phone number. At ;he time I just figured they had enough evidence and vve're not concerned wilh my informalion. After seeing the documenlary
on netflix l decided that someone olher lhgn manitowoc county officials needs to here (his. They were pushing in }he direclion towards lhe house
from the highway.

l feel obliga(ed to share lhis now that I know some of lhe circumstances involving lhe way manitowoc handled the case

Sent from my T-Moblle 4G LTE Device
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Traiiscript of Plioiie Call

MCSD Manitowoc Coxnyly Sheriff's Deparliiient. This is Ccn4a. Ccii't I help yozt?

Male Uh..l..I...Idoiltkiyouiifl...ifit'sgoodiifornyctlion...badiifirination. M'hodollalkto
about this... the gii4 W/70 is iiiissiiig from Hillbert.

MCSD I can liasie you speak witly my shift coiinnander. Can yoxi hold 077 a moinent?

Male Thank you

AdCSD Sxwe

MCSD (rJnintelligible) ..i'n7 going to tran4er you to the slyift coiinnander. Yozt'll be talkiiig with
Sgt. (zmintelligible). Okay?

Male Thaiik you.

MCSD Okay.

(Call being transferred. Ringing.)

Sgt. (Unintelligible)

MCSD Scott, when I ]iaiyg zp it's a man 077 the phone wlyo thinks /?2 /7(IS soi>ie maybe iiiore leads.
He wants !O spqak with somebody o>y the case.

Sgt. Alrtght. /

(End of call)
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STATE OF WISCONSIN CIRCUIT COURT MANITOWOC COUNTY

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintgf,

Case No. 2005- CF-381V.

STEVEN A. AVERY,

Defendant.

AFFIDAVIT OF DEAN A. STRANG

I, Dean A. Strang, first duly sworn on oath, hereby state as follows:

1. I was counsel with Jerome Buting for Steven Avery during much of

the pretrial phase, at trial, and at sentencing in this case, from spring 2006 to June

2007.

2. I have reviewed Mr. Buting's affidavit of August 11, 2022. My

recollection and understanding comports with his as to everything that he

addresses in that affidavit. Within the scope of my personal knowledge, I agree

with and confirm his affidavit.

Dated this 12tb day of August, 2022.

Group Gs

'?
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l

Subscribed and sworn before me, the undersigned
Notary Public of the State of Wisconsin,
this 13. day of August, 2022.

z? ,,4;?pp-5-
"(2' I '[-1<'H4? x,,,c n

Notary Public
State of Wisconsin

%,,i,>,,o'o.up.s:;sl.c:,oi,, .7

My cormnissionm-?: , -l S Dpfmq&-cl?
u

l

")

:j""
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STATE OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff

CIRCUIT COURT MANITOWOC COUfsJTY

V.

STEVEN A. AVERY,

Defendant.

AFFIDAVIT OF DEAN A. STRANG

Case No. 2005- CF-381

I, Dean A. Strang, first duly sworn on oath, hereby state as fouows:

1. I was cou?nsel with Jerome Buting for Steven Avery during much of

the pretrial phase, at ttial, and at sentencing in this case, from spring 2006 to Jme

2007.

2. I have reviewed Mr. Buting's affidavit of August 11, 2022. My

recollection and understanding comports with his as to everything that he

addresses in that affidavit. Within the scope of my personal knowledge, I agree

with and cor&m his affidavit.

Dated this 12th day of August, 2022.

i'>]
qa. strar? }
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Subscribed and sworn before me, the undersigned
Notary Public of the State of Wisconsin,
this 13? day of August, 2022.

,.;, ,,2;2,gj?
"'('f -, A""H4x.p ?sc n

Notary Public
State of Wisconsin

My cornrnission?: iS () g Vmts%'s-r,M
w

l
:

i

")

.al
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STATE OF WISCONSIN

STATB OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff,

CIRCUIT COURT MANITOWOC COUNTY

V.

STBVEN A. AVERY,

Defendant,

AFFIDAVIT OF JEROME F. BUTING

STATE OF WISCONSIN )
)SS

COUNTY OF WAUKESHA )

I, Jerome F. Buting, first duly sworn on oath, hereby state as follows:

1. I was counsel with Dean Strang for Steven Avery during much of the

pretrial phase, at trial, and at sentencing in this case, from sprmz 2006 to

June 2007. In general and as relevant here, I was familiar with all

information disclosed by law enforcement and the prosectition to me, Mr.

Strang, and any other member of what I call here "Mr. Avery's defense

team" during the time that Mr. Strang and I represented Mr, Avery.

2. Mr. Strang and I repeatedly requested notice of au exculpatory or

potentially exculpatory iiiformation and otherwise discoverable

information and material from the prosecutors and the Manitowoc Courity

Sheriff's Departrnent. This included reports of any tips from citizens and

Case No. 2005 CF 381
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"audio tape copies of dispatch or au other communications relevant to law

enforcement operations invoJved in the search for and investigation of

Teresa Halbach's disappearance, for the period of November 3, 2005

through November 12, 2005." An exampIe is my July 24, 2006, letter,

attached as Exhibit A to this affidavit.

I received a CD-ROM that purported to contain au Manitowoc County

Sheriff's Departrnent dispatch calls related to the Halbach investigation

covering the period November 3, 2005, through November 12, 2005. That

CD-ROM was at some point turned over to Mr. Avery's successor counsel.

I have recently reviewed Uhe handwriting on a copy of that CD-ROM wbich

I recognize as my handwriting. I am informed, and believe in part based on

my own rerol1prtion, that this copy of the CD-ROM came from my files on

Mr, Avery's case. I recognize my handwritten note on the CD-ROM which

refers to one call on that recording, an untimed call to a dispatcher from

then-Sgt. Andrew Colborn requesting information on a license plate of

Teresa Halbach. That CD-ROM copy and my handwriting on it confirm my

recollection that I listened to all of the calls recorded on that CD-ROM.

4. I have recently re-listened to all of the recordings on that CD-ROM that I

received during my representation of Mr. Avery and I compared it to

another CD-ROM that Mr. Avery's current counsel provided to me. Upon

3.
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Mormation and belief, she received this CD-ROM as a response to a recent

open records request. On the newly disclosed CD-ROM there is an

additional can from a citizen tipster that was not included in the audio

recordings that I received during Mr. Avery's represerrtation, I have been

informed that the caller on this recording is an individual later identified as

Thomas Sowinski. The Avery defense team was not given the audio of his

call, his identity as a potential witness or other information which we could

have investigated and used at trial.

s. The newly received CD-ROM that current counsel for Mr. Avery has shared

with us, which inrlndes a cau purported to be from Mr. Sowinski, indicates

that the caller was transferred to an investigator, Sgt. Scott Senglaub. By

inference, Sgt. Senglaub spoke to the cauer as the recording shows that the

dispatcher connected the cauer to him. Neither I nor Mr. Avery's defense

team ever was given a recording, a report, notes, or any other notice of a

conversation between Thomas Sowinski and Sgt, Scott Senglaub of the

Manitowoc County Sheriff's Department.

6. At the time we were requesting discovery and disclosure of exculpatoiy

information, Mr. Strang and I were using a private investigator, Comad O,

(Pete) Baetz. We would have had him follow up on the call from Mr,

Sowinski, had we known about it.
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Had Mr. Strang and I known before Mr. Avery's trial about any information

that a person had reported two men pushing an SUV on the Avery property

in the darkness before the reported discovery of Ms. Halbach's Toyota RAV-

4 SUV on the Avery Salvage Yard property, we would have pursued that

information diligently, with Mr, Baetz and otherwise.

8. Had Mr. Strang and I received or known before Mr. Avery's trial about

Thomas Sowinski's telephone call with the dispatcher, which shows that she

transtaprrpd that call to Sgt, Scott Senglaub, we would have made a specific

request for further information about the substance of that can from Sgt.

Senglaub.

9. Although the new CD-ROM reveals That Thomas Sowinski indeed did cau

the dispatcher during the timeframe of the CD-ROM given to Mr. Avery's

trial counsel, Mr, Sowinski's ca?l was not induded on the pretrial discovery

CD-ROM.

10, As to the call from Andrew Colborn described in paragraph 3 above, neither

the prosecution, the Manitowoc Cotinty Sheriff's Department, nor any agent

or agency of the State of Wisconsin ever disclosed to me or the defense team

the date and ti?me at which that call was made- LUke many other recorded

caus that were disclosed to us, the audio record of that cau from Andrew

Colborn had no tirnestamp or other documentation of the time of the call

7.
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whei? it was disclosed to me and the defense team for Mr. Avery. We thus

had no way to challenge or disprove any claim that Mr. Colborn might make

about the specific timing of that call.

Dated this 3th day of August, 2022.

7'

a'Jer&e F'. B"ui

Subscribed and sworn to before me, the undersigned
Notary Public of the State of Wisconsin,
this & day of August, 2022.

? 3Am
Notary Public
State of Wisconsin

Mycommissione? /-s 91,IMM

s
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BU!!NG & Wu,ums, s.c.

?Jetomu F', Buitnga
)Ksthlbhb B. S?

400 N. Exeeutivo t)Ave, Sus'te '205
Bro?eld, Wiaeo? 53005-6029
Talaphemo: (262) 821-09El9
Pacvimue: (e6S!) 821-6699

Jg ahitma h ?cdn
bs sh* tumid ot Oolumbk July 24, 2006

Dud!ey A. Blliame

6165 N. Oman ? Avonue
Gk.n?, Wiminain aB209-ama

Tclophona: (414) 247-8600
Facsitnile: (414) 247A€55

wVih Facsimtle 'jlrahsHisstqn {;)p%"

Special Prosemztor Kenneth Kratz a
a a' -Calmner'County"DTstri'ct:AtWndy'rOffice"

206 Court Strcct

Chihon, Wisconsiri 53014-1127

Rez Statebfl)Vigcbmmvs.SlevenAvary
Manitwoc Coumy Case No. 05-CF-381

Dcar JVh. Kratz:
Th

I am mting to follow-up on some discovery isshes in this 'rnattar. Thcre are a number of
items we do not have yet, and as-J bave gone tbrough tbe discovery alreadyprovided, Ihavc tried to
makc note of tbem. Most sxc rcfbrtcd to in discovcry, but somc.are mdependent of that, By copy
of this letter, l am also riotifying ITIV. Wiegert for 'his e.onvenience as T. assume he will assist yon in
responding to your request, as well as Nomn Gabn since some of my requcas conccrn Crime Lab
D3SIA te6ting,

Plcase locate and produce tbe following:

(I) . Audio tape copies of dispatch or all other commuoications relevam to law
--- --- ---?or?nt-oppt'ons-involved. 'm the .search for .ana investigatian.-of.,Tharesa -Halbac@:B, ,,. ,, , ,, ,

disappearance, fortbeperiod ofNovember 3, 2005 througb November 12, 2005. This would includa
anytMng rccordad on any typc of mcdia by law cnforcemeint or public safety agerit. This sbo'uld
include,- but is riot ]imited to,- radio communicatiori, both voica and data, routirielyrecordcd by any
agengy, on any and al) frequencies available to law enforoesnent or public safcty units assigncd to
the scaxcb andlor investigation. It .Thould also jn4ude data or rm,ssngc transmissionq made by and
between any law cnforc'mmt or public safety agcncy pcrtinant to thc scarch wd invesThgation
activitics, via compum or tclctype, and communication bctwcan any law enforcement or public
safety aBfficy and -civi}iavi assets, such as aircraft or ground vehicles involved in the szcb and

, invcstigation activiticg,

N
EXHIBrl"

A

'aD5-1

DATE: Dlb

COPIES TO: g l
'SU-  

N3 
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qbs-:?t&q
Speial !E'rosecutor ]?eth )Kratz
July 24, 2006
Pqge Two

] made a simi)ar, tbough perbaps not as detailerl, request about one month ago rod I believe
Mmk Wiegd spokc to Dcan ud bc is workinH on this already.

(2) A listing, of all Calumet and Manitowoc Counq Sheriff Departtnmt pcrsonnel
mvolved in tbis investigatiori whieh includeB their ofk;er, persormel or squad nurnbat, Tbis is so
we can decipher 'tvho did what ih reports that just rcfer to, for instance, "80 1 did arrive and .., ."
Mostreports we, have rece,iye,d axe easy to dccipher liuk some, like the "log-in sb:cts" from ofncr:ts
checking people in and out arc prepared sfflatly by reference to a numbu rathar than a namc,

a (3"y- -ertrrte?,*r'a!?d?tes'fot ah ??Effifirig rap6Hg. Wey?

received only part: oF Sherry Culhane's notcs so far, aod none born ballis&s, idmtificntion, blood
pattern analysis and oUrms in t'he C'rime Lob who 'have prepared reports. Also Sherry Oulhane's last
submission of bencb notes only goes to early April (see hor correspondence to you dateis April 12,
2006), She has obviously done many examinations sincc thcn and must have generated many more
pages in her.file,

(4) CrimeLab(Madisorioffice)crrorlogsandotherrecordsofcontamtnationofcvidange
by analysts' own DNA or othar typcs of coxibimination zevealed by thc lab's ?g 'process and
proaf of any and an corrcmvc ac'Uon taken by the lab once crrors arc dctcct& Please providc such
tecot& for thc timc 'pcriod ofJnnuary 1, 2004 to the. prcscnt datc,

(5) Copies of tbe elecmniclwmputer data fi Iesa jtom DNA testing in this case,, hs my cxpcrt
'ncThs to sce tbc raw data himself. They should be copicd onto writc-only CD medta. Speci%al1y,
we request,, fu ABI 310, 3100, or 3130 data tbc followirig:

a, Gcnescan project data fijes (electronic)
b. Gmcscan sample data files (clectronic)
C, Genescan ar?a)ysiB parameters data filaq (electronic)

. d. .0.anescanmatrixdata41csforthcinstrumant(s).usedji
c, (sanzcan injcction list data mcs (clcatronic)
f. Genotypc files (cicctronic)

(6) Rcpom of' the Crime Lib's prvFiciency tests and documantation of any correrqivc
action take.n whcnr:m proficicngy testin2;H discrcpaucies arc dctcdr4, for thc last five yoarperiod to
date. Suclh testing mxl records shall include tbose indicated in thc DNA Advisory Board Qualig
Assurmce Standards for Forensic DNA TestingLaboratorles, Staodards No. 13.1 rod 14,1.

(7) Anothercopyoftheaudio-tapcintcrvicwofBrendonDasgqfromFcbruary27,2006.
The CD previously prov3dcd of this recording cannot bc rcad by any computer in f)can's or my
o&as, so I assumc it was just a defective "burn"

% -h% %
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Special Prosccutor Kehneth Kratz
July 24, 2006
Pqge Three

mtfL-gt-tta-'z

(8) Copies of all video recordtngs madc of tbc RAV-4 at ils location when discovered
at the Ave;ry Sahrage Yar6,

(9) Copiesofan3randallVideorecordingsmadeDfatheiriteriorofStevenAvery'strailw}
garaHe, orvehicle. (I balieve %c rqsrts rcfercnce S@ Ty5ori mnkirig such n reaording.)

(1 0) Copics of miy and su yideo recording(s) of thc burn barrels as wclJ as the burn pff
bcforc it was ahered by i'nvesiigators' digging,

. o = = o ' -(2 1:)" fomaaoji;5rotbervmozmrd: rffil6pMy, with thc
exceptign of an 8mm reutr5uq3 of a viw of the pit from the Radantproper§, and an 8mm r:icord ing
of tha conveyer arta. To datc, thosc are the only ndeo recordings 1 think we have received
concerning thc Avigi7prgpmy.

(12) CopicsofOrvilJeJacob'sphoneandvisi(ingaudiorecordinpandvisitationlogsfor
tbe-entire length or timc whan be was housed together with Stavmi mwy,

(13) Copiasofall(unedited)fly-overvideosrecordbdfromaerialsearchesonNovembar
4, 2005 and November 6, 2005- We ?tly havc a splkced copy on a I)VD which is obviouJy
from several ffiffercnt datcg, 'times, ox ain;raft with no separation or desipation ns to their datc ana
time. Thus I asmime tbere must be a master copy of tbc complctc vidms.

(.14) Crirnc Lab .field tesponse team reports from Ml and Zheng (or othcr C'rimc Lab
perso'rinel) whidi degn'bc their invoJ'vement at the Avery property mid theatt'angfer of tha RAV-4
from tbe Avery prope;ay to whatevcr }ocation it was noxt taken. Please also im,lude reports which
mplain whetc arid under what conditions thc RAV-4 was kcpt up to thc point Sherry Culhane begm
her examination on November 7, 2005 at approximately 11:00 a.m.; and

.,,,..-Jl51., EitiaDy,Lno,tc tlmt Caltimet Comty Sberiff's I%4@ent.r.@po.rt3o?s,239 an3 24:. am. , .
rcfcr to detaileJ measurements and &agrmns being taken of Steven Avery's residemce and gpraBe
for possible cowt diagramsi or 3-D representations, If those are availab)e, I would appreiate an
opportunity m 'view them at yow carliest convenience.
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Spacinl Progemtor JKanneth Kritz
Ju$y 24, 2006
Page Tour

Please cantac'r me M you have any questions or diffimilty complying with this digovery
request.

Very trul9 yours,
?

Jeronte F. ButinB l

.0%i?% 0 %%llb .+ 0# -lffi

JFJ!llh
W: Jnvestigator Mark aW%aot (vib USPS)

?ANmm Gahn (via USPS)
A.A.G. Tom Fallon (via US?S)
Atty Dean Strmig (da USPS)
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l 414 ZJd J5t)) t",UUt)

fibs-2'l(,l

l=

TOTAL P.005
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